
 

 

Am unrhyw ymholiad yn ymwneud â'r agenda hwn cysylltwch â Julie Lloyd 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864246   Ebost: lloydj4@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 22 Tachwedd 2023 

 
 
I bwy bynnag a fynno wybod, 
 
Cynhelir cyfarfod aml-leoliad o'r Pwyllgor Craffu Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol yn Nhŷ 
Penallta, a thrwy Microsoft Teams ar Dydd Mawrth, 28ain Tachwedd, 2023 am 5.30 pm i ystyried y 

materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda canlynol. Gall Cynghorwyr ac aelodau'r cyhoedd sy’n dymuno siarad 
ar unrhyw eitem wneud hynny drwy wneud cais i’r Cadeirydd.  Mae hefyd croeso i chi ddefnyddio'r 
Gymraeg yn y cyfarfod, mae angen o leiaf 3 diwrnod gwaith o rybudd os byddwch chi'n dymuno gwneud y 
naill neu'r llall.  Bydd gwasanaeth cyfieithu ar y pryd yn cael ei ddarparu ar gais.   
 
Gall aelodau'r Cyhoedd neu'r Wasg fynychu'n bersonol yn Nhŷ Penallta neu gallant weld y cyfarfod yn fyw 
drwy'r ddolen ganlynol: https://civico.net/caerphilly   
 

 

Bydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei ffrydio'n fyw a bydd recordiad ar gael i'w weld drwy wefan y Cyngor, ac 
eithrio trafodaethau sy'n ymwneud ag eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig.  Felly, bydd delweddau/sain yr 

unigolion sy'n siarad ar gael yn gyhoeddus i bawb drwy wefan y Cyngor: www.caerffili.gov.uk 
  
 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Tudalennau 
  
1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 

 
 

2  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 
 

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus

https://civico.net/caerphilly
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 
 

 

Atgoffi’r Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion o'u cyfrifoldeb personol i ddatgan unrhyw fuddiannau personol 
a/neu niweidiol mewn perthynas ag unrhyw eitem o fusnes ar yr agenda hwn yn unol â Deddf 
Llywodraeth Leol 2000, Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor a'r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer Cynghorwyr a 
Swyddogion.  

  
 
I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:- 
  
  
 
  
 
3  Pwyllgor Craffu Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a gynhaliwyd ar 17 Hydref 2023. 

1 - 8 
 

4  Ystyried unrhyw fater a gyfeiriwyd at y Pwyllgor hwn yn unol â'r drefn galw i mewn. 
 

 

5  Rhaglen Waith y Dyfodol Pwyllgor Craffu Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol. 
9 - 20 

 

6  I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiadau* Cabinet canlynol:-   
1. Adroddiad Blynyddol ar Gwynion Corfforaethol a ddaeth i law ar gyfer y cyfnod rhwng 

1 Ebrill 2022 a 31 Mawrth 2023 – 15 Tachwedd 2023. 

2. Cynllun Corfforaethol (gan Gynnwys Amcanion Llesiant) 2023-2028 – 15 Tachwedd 
2023. 

 
*Os oes aelod o’r Pwyllgor Craffu yn dymuno i unrhyw un o'r adroddiadau Cabinet uchod i gael eu 
dwyn ymlaen ar gyfer adolygiad yn y cyfarfod, cysylltwch â Julie Lloyd, 01443 864246, erbyn 10.00 
a.m. ar ddydd Llun, 27 Tachwedd 2023. 
 
I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiadau Craffu canlynol:- 
  
  
 
  
 
7  Cynnig Band B Rhaglen Cymunedau Dysgu Cynaliadwy - Ysgol y Lawnt/Ysgol Gynradd Rhymni 

Uchaf. 
21 - 56 

 

8  Rhaglen Cymunedau Dysgu Cynaliadwy - Cynnig i Gau Ysgol Fabanod Cwm Glas. 
57 - 84 

 
9  Adroddiad Blynyddol Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Thai ar gyfer 2022/23. 

85 - 114 
 

 
 
 
Cylchrediad: 
 



Cynghorwyr Mrs E.M. Aldworth, C. Bishop, A. Broughton-Pettit, M. Chacon-Dawson, D. Cushing, 

Mrs P. Cook, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, C.J. Gordon, T. Heron, A. Leonard, B. Miles (Is Gadeirydd), 
T. Parry (Cadeirydd), J.E. Roberts, J. Simmonds, S. Skivens, J. Winslade a K. Woodland 
 
Aelodau Cyfetholedig: 

 
Cynrychiolwyr Archesgobaeth ROC Caerdydd dros Addysg (gyda hawliau pleidleisio ar faterion 
addysgol) 
Mr M. Western 
 
Cynrychiolwyr Rhiant Lywodraethwyr (gyda hawliau pleidleisio ar faterion addysgol) Tracy Millington 

(Parent Governor Representative) a Mr G. James (Parent Governor Representative) 
 
Cynrychiolwyr Cyrff Allanol (heb hawliau pleidleisio) 

Mrs P. Ireland (NEU) a Mrs J. Havard (NEU) 
 
Asiantaeth Llywodraethwyr Caerffili (heb hawliau pleidleisio) 

Mr D Davies 
 
Defnyddwyr a Gofalyddion 
 

  
 
A Swyddogion Priodol 
 
 
SUT FYDDWN YN DEFNYDDIO EICH GWYBODAETH 
Bydd yr unigolion hynny sy’n mynychu cyfarfodydd pwyllgor i siarad/roi tystiolaeth yn cael eu henwi yng nghofnodion y cyfarfo d 
hynny, weithiau bydd hyn yn cynnwys eu man gweithio neu fusnes a’r barnau a fynegir. Bydd cofnodion o’r cyfarfo d gan gynnwys 
manylion y siaradwyr ar gael i’r cyhoedd ar wefan y Cyngor ar www.caerffili.gov.uk. ac eithrio am drafodaethau sy’n ymwneud a g 
eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig.  
 
Mae gennych nifer o hawliau mewn perthynas â’r wybodaeth, gan gynnwys yr hawl  i gael mynediad at wybodaeth sydd gennym 
amdanoch a’r hawl i gwyno os ydych yn anhapus gyda’r modd y mae eich gwybodaeth yn cael ei brosesu.  
Am wybodaeth bellach ar sut rydym yn prosesu eich gwybodaeth a’ch hawliau, ewch i’r Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd Cyfarfodydd 
Pwyllgor Llawn ar ein gwefan neu cysylltwch â Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol drwy e-bostio griffd2@caerffili.gov.uk  neu ffoniwch  
01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd
http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 
 

 

 

PWYLLGOR CRAFFU'R GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL 
 

COFNODION Y CYFARFOD AML-LEOLIAD A GYNHALIWYD YN SWYDDFEYDD Y 

CYNGOR YN NHŶ PENALLTA A THRWY MICROSOFT TEAMS AR  
DDYDD MAWRTH 17 HYDREF AM 5.30PM 

 
YN BRESENNOL: 

 
Y Cynghorydd T. Parry - Cadeirydd  

Y Cynghorydd B. Miles - Is-gadeirydd 
 

Cynghorwyr: 
 
E.M. Aldworth, C. Bishop, A. Broughton-Pettit, M. Chacon-Dawson, P. Cook, D. Cushing, M. 
Evans, A. Farina-Childs, C. Gordon, T. Heron, A. Leonard, J. Roberts, J. Simmonds, J. 
Winslade a K. Woodland.  
 

Aelodau'r Cabinet:  
 
Y Cynghorydd C. Andrews (Addysg a Chymunedau), E. Forehead (Gofal Cymdeithasol) a J. 
Pritchard (Ffyniant, Adfywio a Newid yn yr Hinsawdd). 
        

      Ynghyd â: 
 

Swyddogion: R. Edmunds (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Addysg a Gwasanaethau 
Corfforaethol), S. Richards (Pennaeth Cynllunio a Strategaeth Addysg), K. Cole (Prif 
Swyddog Addysg), A. West (Rheolwr Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif), G. Jenkins (Cyfarwyddwr 
Cynorthwyol – Pennaeth Gwasanaethau i Blant), J. Williams (Cyfarwyddwr Cynorthwyol – 
Gwasanaethau i Oedolion), M.J. Jones (Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Ariannol), C. Forbes-
Thompson (Rheolwr Craffu) a J. Lloyd (Swyddog Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor). 

 
Hefyd yn bresennol:  
 

Aelodau Cyfetholedig: Mrs T. Millington (Cynrychiolydd Rhiant-lywodraethwyr) a Mrs K. Cole 
(Undeb Addysg Cenedlaethol).  
 

 
TREFNIADAU RECORDIO A PHLEIDLEISIO 

 
Atgoffodd y Cadeirydd y rhai oedd yn bresennol fod y cyfarfod yn cael ei ffrydio’n fyw, ac y 
byddai recordiad ar gael i’w weld drwy wefan y Cyngor, ac eithrio trafodaethau sy'n ymwneud 
ag eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig. Cliciwch yma i weld. 

 
  

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

 
Cafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorydd S. Skivens, Mr M. Western 
(Cynrychiolydd Comisiwn Archesgobaethol Eglwys Uniongred Rwsia Caerdydd dros Addysg), 
Mr G. James (Cynrychiolydd Rhiant-lywodraethwr), Mrs P. Ireland (Undeb Addysg 
Cenedlaethol) a Mr D. Davies (Cymdeithas Llywodraethwyr Caerffili). 
 

Page 1

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 3

https://civico.net/caerphilly


  
2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANT 

 
Ni chafwyd datganiadau o fuddiant ar ddechrau'r cyfarfod, nac yn ystod y cyfarfod. 
 
 

3. CYFARFOD Y PWYLLGOR CRAFFU ADDYSG A GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL A 
GYNHALIWYD AR 12 MEDI 2023.  

 
Cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd cymeradwyo cofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 12 Medi 2023 fel 
cofnod cywir a, drwy Microsoft Forms (ac wrth nodi bod 15 o blaid, 0 yn erbyn ac 1 yn ymatal), 
cytunwyd ar hyn gan y mwyafrif a oedd yn bresennol. 

 
PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Craffu Addysg a 
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a gynhaliwyd ar 12 Medi 2023 (cofnodion rhif 1-7) fel 
cofnod cywir. 
 
 

4.  YSTYRIED UNRHYW FATER A GYFEIRIWYD AT Y PWYLLGOR CRAFFU YN UNOL Â'R 
WEITHDREFN GALW I MEWN. 

 
 Ni chyfeiriwyd unrhyw faterion at y Pwyllgor Craffu yn unol â'r weithdrefn galw i mewn. 
 
 
5. BLAENRAGLEN WAITH Y PWYLLGOR CRAFFU ADDYSG A GWASANAETHAU 

CYMDEITHASOL  
 

Cyflwynodd y Rheolwr Craffu yr adroddiad, a oedd yn rhoi gwybod i’r Pwyllgor am ei 
Flaenraglen Waith a gynlluniwyd ar gyfer y cyfnod rhwng mis Hydref 2023 a mis Mawrth 2024.  

  
 Cynigiodd yr aelodau eitemau adroddiad ychwanegol i'w hychwanegu, gan gynnwys y 

defnydd o fêps a ffonau symudol mewn ysgolion, achosion pwysau'r gaeaf ac addysg yn y 
cartref. Eglurodd un Aelod fod adroddiad Cabinet ynghylch plant nad oedden nhw'n gallu 
mynychu’r ysgol wedi dod gerbron y pwyllgor craffu ym mis Mehefin 2023. Hysbyswyd yr 
Aelodau hefyd y gellid cyflwyno adroddiad ar achosion pwysau'r gaeaf i'r Pwyllgor Craffu 
Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol yn eu cyfarfod nesaf ddiwedd mis Tachwedd. 
Gofynnodd y Cadeirydd hefyd i adroddiad sy’n mynd i’r Cabinet ynghylch prydau ysgol am 
ddim gael ei gynnwys fel eitem wybodaeth ar gyfer y pwyllgor craffu hwn ddiwedd mis 
Tachwedd. 

 
 Yn dilyn ystyried yr adroddiad, ac yn amodol ar yr eitemau ychwanegol a gynigiwyd, 

cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd cymeradwyo'r argymhelliad. Cytunwyd ar hyn yn unfrydol drwy 
ddefnyddio Microsoft Forms.  
         

PENDERFYNWYD cyhoeddi’r Flaenraglen Waith fel y’i hatodwyd i bapurau’r 
cyfarfod, ac yn amodol ar yr eitemau agenda ychwanegol a gynigwyd, ar wefan y 
Cyngor. 

 
  
6. ADRODDIADAU'R CABINET  

 
Cadarnhawyd na fu unrhyw geisiadau i unrhyw un o adroddiadau'r Cabinet a restrwyd ar yr 
agenda gael eu dwyn ymlaen i'w trafod yn y cyfarfod. 
 
 
ADRODDIADAU'R SWYDDOGION 

  
 Rhoddwyd ystyriaeth i'r adroddiadau canlynol. 

Page 2



  
 

7. RHAGLEN BAND B CYMUNEDAU DYSGU CYNALIADWY – CYNNIG YSGOL Y LAWNT AC 
YSGOL GYNRADD RHYMNI UCHAF.  

  
Cyflwynodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a Chymunedau yr adroddiad a chynghorwyd yr 
Aelodau mai diben yr adroddiad oedd ymgynghori'n swyddogol gyda'r Aelodau mewn 
perthynas â Rhaglen Band B Cymunedau Dysgu Cynaliadwy a gynigiwyd i adleoli Ysgol y 
Lawnt ac Ysgol Gynradd Rhymni Uchaf.  

 

Gofynnodd y pwyllgor craffu am eglurder ynghylch sut mae’r fformiwla ariannu ar gyfer ysgolion 
yn gweithredu, a sut y bydd hyn yn cael ei gymhwyso i bob ysgol. Canfyddiad y cyhoedd yw 
bod addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg yn ddrytach. Sicrhawyd yr aelodau y bydd yr ysgolion yn cael eu 
hariannu ar yr un sail drwy'r fformiwla ariannu teg a gymhwysir i bob ysgol arall, a bod ysgolion 
cyfrwng Cymraeg a Saesneg yn cael eu hariannu ar yr un sail. Pe bai unrhyw newidiadau i'r 
fformiwla ariannu, byddai hyn yn gofyn am ymgynghoriad ynghylch y fformiwla ariannu ei hun. 
 
Gofynnodd Aelod am wybodaeth am y cyfleusterau a rennir, a ddylai sicrhau arbedion cost, a 

gofynnodd a fyddai pob ysgol yn cael cadw'r arbedion hynny, neu a fyddai'r Awdurdod Lleol yn 

elwa o'r arbedion. Cynghorwyd y pwyllgor y bydd yr ysgolion hyn yn sero net ac yn effeithlon 

iawn o safbwynt ynni. Fodd bynnag, bydd yr ysgolion yn dal i gael eu hariannu gan 

ddefnyddio'r fformiwla ariannu teg bresennol. Fodd bynnag, wrth i ni symud tuag at adeiladu 

rhagor o ysgolion ar sail sero net, efallai y bydd angen adolygu’r fformiwla ariannu teg o ran 

costau adeiladau. 

Fe wnaeth y pwyllgor craffu geisio eglurder ynghylch yr hyn y mae Band B yn ei olygu a 

chynghorwyd mai terminoleg Llywodraeth Cymru ydyw, a ddechreuodd gyda Band A, a oedd 

yn weithredol tan 2019. Mae Band B yn cwmpasu’r cyfnod rhwng 2019 a 2026. Mae hyn 

bellach yn newid i raglen dreigl a gofynnir i awdurdodau lleol gyflwyno cynigion ar gyfer y 9 

mlynedd nesaf. Yna, caiff hyn ei rannu’n gyfnodau hylaw o dair blynedd, ac mae swyddogion 

yn edrych ar sut y gellir gwneud hynny a beth y gellir ei anfon at Lywodraeth Cymru. 

Gofynnodd Aelod pa amserlen a ragwelir ar gyfer cwblhau’r uned newydd ym Mhontllan-fraith 

a dywedwyd wrtho fod disgwyl i'r Ganolfan i Ddysgwyr Agored i Niwed gael ei chwblhau erbyn 

diwedd 2024. 

Gofynnodd y pwyllgor craffu beth yw'r amserlen ar gyfer cwblhau'r ddwy ysgol, pe bai'r 

caniatâd yn cael ei gyflawni. Cynghorwyd yr Aelodau bod yna broses hirfaith mewn perthynas 

â'r cynigion hyn. Mae hyn yn cynnwys ein hymgynghoriad, ac mae gan Lywodraeth Cymru 

baneli i ystyried pob achos busnes. Mae achos busnes amlinellol eisoes wedi'i gyflwyno 

mewn perthynas â'r cam cyntaf, sydd wedi'i gymeradwyo.  Yn dilyn ymgynghoriad, bydd yn 

dychwelyd i'r pwyllgor craffu ar 28 Tachwedd 2023, cyn mynd i'r Cabinet, ac os caiff ei 

gymeradwyo, y cam nesaf yw’r hysbysiad statudol, sydd wedi’i gynllunio ar gyfer dechrau 

gwanwyn 2024, ac mae’n ofynnol am 28 diwrnod. Yn dilyn hynny, bydd yn dychwelyd i'r 

pwyllgor craffu a'r Cabinet gyda'r adroddiad gwrthwynebu (terminoleg Llywodraeth Cymru). 

Yna, bydd yn dychwelyd i Lywodraeth Cymru gyda’r achos busnes llawn, a’r gobaith yw y 

gallai’r ysgolion gael eu cwblhau erbyn Medi 2027.  

Holodd y pwyllgor craffu sut y bydd yr ysgol yn cael ei gwahanu a pha drefniadau diogelu fydd 

yn cael eu rhoi ar waith i sicrhau bod pobl sy'n ymweld â'r safle yn cael eu rheoli. Sicrhawyd yr 

aelodau y bydd y rhain yn ddau endid ar wahân ac y bydd gan bob ysgol eu hardaloedd eu 

hunain y maen nhw'n eu rheoli. Bydd derbynfa a rennir gyda man diogel ar gyfer unrhyw 

ymwelwyr, gyda mynedfeydd ar wahân ar ben hynny i blant gael mynediad i bob ysgol.  

Gofynnodd yr aelodau am sicrwydd ynghylch diogelu'r Gymraeg yn yr ysgol, a holwyd a fyddai 

disgyblion ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg ar wahân i'r disgyblion Saesneg eu hiaith. Sicrhawyd y 

pwyllgor y bydd dwy ysgol ar wahân, a bydd gan bob un ei maes chwarae, ei hystafelloedd 

Page 3



dosbarth, a'i neuaddau ei hun. Fodd bynnag, bydd modd agor rhai ardaloedd at ddefnydd 

cymunedol. Rhoddodd y Cadeirydd ei hadborth i'r pwyllgor ar yr ymweliad â math tebyg o 

ddarpariaeth yng Nghaerdydd a dywedodd ei bod yn teimlo'n dawel ei meddwl ar ôl yr 

ymweliad bod modd i'r dull hwn weithio'n dda iawn. Cyfarfu swyddogion, aelodau'r pwyllgor 

craffu, penaethiaid a llywodraethwyr â'r ddau bennaeth yn ysgolion Caerdydd, a dywedon nhw 

eu bod yn teimlo'n gyfforddus eu bod yn gweithredu dwy ysgol ar wahân. Bydd swyddogion yn 

gweithio'n agos gyda'r ddwy ysgol, penaethiaid a chyrff llywodraethu i sicrhau bod y cynllun yn 

diwallu anghenion a gofynion y ddwy ysgol. 

Holodd yr aelodau a oedd yr ymweliad ag ysgolion Caerdydd wedi casglu unrhyw wybodaeth 

ychwanegol, er enghraifft, a oedd unrhyw ymdeimlad o gystadleuaeth neu elyniaeth rhwng y 

ddwy ysgol, neu a oedd yn ymddangos bod yr addysg Gymraeg yn yr ysgol Saesneg wedi 

elwa o gael ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg drws nesaf. Hefyd, cynghorwyd yr aelodau bod gan yr 

ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg yng Nghaerdydd uned drochi Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion a oedd 

wedi symud i'r ardal o'r tu allan i Gymru ac sydd am gael eu cyflwyno i'r iaith, sydd wedi bod 

yn llwyddiannus iawn. Ni chododd y naill bennaeth na'r llall o Gaerdydd unrhyw bryderon o'r 

natur hon.  

Hefyd, cynghorwyd y pwyllgor craffu y gallai cydleoli’r ddwy ysgol hyn hefyd ddarparu 

cyfleoedd i gynorthwyo dysgu proffesiynol i staff er enghraifft, a gallan nhw ystyried cynnal 

digwyddiadau ar y cyd.  

Gofynnwyd am eglurhad ynghylch a ymgynghorir â disgyblion hefyd fel rhan o’r broses a 

chynghorwyd yr Aelodau bod llais y disgyblion wedi’i gynnwys yn yr ymgynghoriad, a bod 

fersiwn ‘cyfeillgar i blant’ o’r ddogfen ymgynghori wedi’i pharatoi.   

Fe wnaeth yr aelodau sylwadau ar bellter teithio'r ysgolion newydd, a sut mae'n cymharu â'r 

pellter a deithir i'r ysgolion presennol. Roedd y pwyllgor wedi cael eu cynghori bod taith 

gerdded 4 munud ac 16 munud rhwng yr ysgolion presennol a'r ysgol newydd. Fodd bynnag, 

nid yw hynny o gyfeiriadau eu cartrefi, felly, i rai teuluoedd bydd y daith gerdded i’r ysgolion 

newydd yn fyrrach i rai ac yn hirach i eraill. Fodd bynnag, os yw hyn yn fwy na 1.5 milltir, 

gallan nhw fanteisio ar gludiant am ddim i'r ysgol.  

Dywedodd yr aelodau fod y model hwn eisoes wedi'i ddefnyddio ym Mwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili, 

gydag Ysgol Gynradd Ystrad Mynach a'r ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg, a oedd â meysydd chwarae 

ar wahân ac ati, ac yn gweithio'n dda.  

Nododd y Pwyllgor Craffu gynnwys yr adroddiad a chyflwyno sylwadau ar y cynigion. 

 

8. COD TREFNIADAETH YSGOLION 2018 - CYNNIG AR GYFER CAU YSGOL FABANOD 
CWM GLAS.  

 
 Cyflwynodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a Chymunedau yr adroddiad i ymgynghori’n 

swyddogol â’r Aelodau mewn perthynas â’r cynnig i gau Ysgol Fabanod Cwm Glas erbyn 
Gorffennaf 2024.  

 
Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r aelodau, oherwydd bod nifer y disgyblion yn yr ysgol yn gostwng, a 
rhagwelir y bydd yn gostwng ymhellach, bod cyfarfod wedi ei drefnu gan y Pennaeth a'r Corff 
Llywodraethu gyda chynrychiolwyr o'r Awdurdod Lleol, gan gynnwys y Prif Swyddog Addysg, i 
drafod hyfywedd yr ysgol yn y dyfodol.    
 
Cafodd ei gytuno yn y cyfarfod hwn na allai'r ysgol bellach gynnal cyllideb wedi'i mantoli a 
lefel staffio briodol, felly, gwnaed penderfyniad gan Bennaeth a Chorff Llywodraethu'r ysgol i 
gau Ysgol Fabanod Cwm Glas.  
 

Page 4



Gofynnodd yr Aelodau pa ddewisiadau eraill heblaw cau'r ysgol sydd wedi'u harchwilio ac a 
fyddai unrhyw un o'r rhain yn ariannol hyfyw. Cynghorwyd y pwyllgor craffu bod y corff 
llywodraethu, yn ogystal â swyddogion, wedi edrych ar yr opsiynau ond nad oes modd sicrhau 
cyllideb wedi'i mantoli. Mae costau sefydlog mae'n rhaid eu talu a gyda nifer y disgyblion yn 
gostwng, ni fyddai hynny'n gyraeddadwy.  
 
Gofynnodd y pwyllgor craffu beth fyddai’r cynlluniau pe bai mewnlifiad annisgwyl o ddisgyblion 

yn Ysgol Gynradd Coed-y-Brain ac a oes ganddi’r gwytnwch i ymdopi. Sicrhawyd yr aelodau y 

bydd y 28 disgybl o Ysgol Fabanod Cwm Glas yn gallu trosglwyddo o fis Medi 2024, yn 

amodol ar ddewis y rhieni. Byddai 80 o leoedd gwag o hyd yn Ysgol Gynradd Coed-y-Brain 

wrth fynd ymlaen er mwyn darparu ar gyfer unrhyw geisiadau pellach am leoedd. 

Mynegodd yr aelodau bryder am y staff a gyflogir yn Ysgol Fabanod Cwm Glas a gofynnwyd 

beth fydd yn digwydd iddyn nhw.  Cynghorwyd y pwyllgor craffu, yn amodol ar gymeradwyaeth 

y Cabinet, y byddai cyfarfodydd helaeth gyda chydweithwyr o Adnoddau Dynol a hefyd gyda'r 

staff dan sylw, gyda'r nod o'u hadleoli i swyddi gwag o fewn Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili os yn 

bosibl. 

Amlygodd y pwyllgor craffu fod 50% o ddisgyblion Ysgol Fabanod Cwm Glas yn byw y tu allan 

i’r dalgylch, a gofynnodd a fydden nhw'n mynd i ysgol o fewn eu dalgylch os bydd Ysgol 

Fabanod Cwm Glas yn cau. Cynghorwyd yr aelodau mai mater o ddewis rhieni yw hynny. 

Nododd y Pwyllgor Craffu gynnwys yr adroddiad a chyflwyno sylwadau ar y cynigion. 

 
9. ADRODDIAD MONITRO CYLLIDEB 2023/24 (MIS 3). 
 

Cyflwynodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Ofal Cymdeithasol yr adroddiad a oedd yn hysbysu'r 
Aelodau o'r gwariant refeniw a ragwelir ar gyfer Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol ym mlwyddyn 
ariannol 2023/24 a'i oblygiadau ar flynyddoedd ariannol y dyfodol. Mae'r adroddiad yn nodi'r 
rhesymau y tu ôl i danwariant o £2,938,000 a ragwelir ar gyfer Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
yn 2023/24, gan gynnwys costau cludiant, a bydd hefyd yn ystyried goblygiadau'r tanwariant 
hwn a ragwelir ar falansau wrth gefn Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol ac ar flynyddoedd ariannol 
y dyfodol.  
 
Holodd un Aelod am y 330 awr o angen heb ei ddiwallu a'r swyddi gwag mewn gofal 
cymdeithasol. Cynghorwyd yr aelodau bod recriwtio ar gyfer gofal cymdeithasol yn barhaus 
ond yn heriol iawn ar hyn o bryd, a gostyngwyd yr oriau o angen heb ei ddiwallu i 117 y mis 
hwn.  
  
Holodd un Aelod am gostau gofal preswyl gan gynnwys llety diogel, a ble y byddai'r rhain yn 
cael eu lleoli. Cynghorwyd yr aelodau nad oedd ‘angen’ mawr am lety diogel yng Nghaerffili, 
gyda dim ond un plentyn mewn llety diogel ar hyn o bryd. Mae dau dŷ wedi’u prynu i’w 
defnyddio fel cartrefi plant, un yn Aberbargod ac un yng Nghefn Fforest, a bwriedir cwblhau 
adeiladu adeilad newydd yn Rhymni yn 2024.  
 
Gofynnodd un Aelod am eglurhad ar y ‘gwarcheidiaethau arbennig’ a chynghorwyd yr aelodau 
bod y bobl hyn bron bob amser yn berthnasau agos i’r teulu ac y cyfeirir atyn nhw fel 
personau cysylltiedig. Mae’r elfennau ariannol yn cynnwys asesiadau o’r personau a sicrhau 
nad oes colled ariannol i’r rhai sy’n gofalu am blant sydd, i bob pwrpas, yn ‘maethu’ y plant 
hynny, er eu bod nhw'n perthyn.  
 
Holodd un Aelod am Raglen Eiddilwch Gwent, ac a oedd hwn yn wasanaeth adnabyddus ac a 
allai fod wedi cyfrannu at y tanwariant yn y maes hwn.  Cynghorwyd yr aelodau bod y 
tanwariant yn ymwneud â recriwtio. Hefyd, cynghorwyd yr Aelodau mewn perthynas â’r 
cynllun sydd â galw uchel, ac nad oes yn rhaid i bobl fod dros 65 oed i fod yn gymwys, ac y 
gall meddygon teulu ac ysbytai atgyfeirio pobl i’r rhaglen hon os ydyn nhw ei angen.  
 

Page 5



Gofynnodd un Aelod am eglurhad ar Brosiect Plant Coll Gwent. Cynghorwyd yr aelodau bod 
hwn yn brosiect wedi’i ariannu gan y loteri sydd wedi’i anelu at blant a oedd ar goll yn 
flaenorol, gan gwrdd â nhw a’u cyfweld i bennu unrhyw agweddau a chymorth diogelu sydd 
eu hangen, oedd angen eu rhoi ar waith i osgoi unrhyw achosion pellach o fod ‘ar goll’. Hefyd, 
cynghorwyd yr Aelodau bod y cyllid ar fin dod i ben, a bod y bwrdd partneriaeth rhanbarthol ar 
fin trafod dyfodol y prosiect.   
 
 
Holodd un Aelod ynghylch y ‘costau mabwysiadu eraill’ a chontractau Teuluoedd yn Gyntaf. 
Cynghorwyd yr aelodau bod y ‘costau mabwysiadu eraill’ yn ymwneud â phlant sy'n fwy 
anodd dod o hyd i leoedd mabwysiadu ar eu cyfer, ac mae’r rhain wedi’u cofrestru ag 
asiantaethau annibynnol er mwyn dod o hyd i leoedd mabwysiadu yn unrhyw le yn y DU. Mae 
angen cymorth ariannol ar rai unigolion sy'n mabwysiadu a, lle mae plentyn yn cael ei leoli y 
tu allan i Fwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili, byddai’r Awdurdod yn parhau i fod yn gyfrifol yn ariannol 
am y plentyn am hyd at 3 blynedd, ac ar ôl yr amser hwn, byddai’n trosglwyddo i awdurdod 
lleol yr ardal maen nhw'n byw ynddi. Byddai'r costau hyn hefyd yn cynnwys plant a oedd yn 
byw y tu allan i'r ardal ac a oedd â'u lle mabwysiadu ym Mwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili.  
 
Hefyd, cynghorwyd yr aelodau fod Teuluoedd yn Gyntaf yn cael ei ariannu gan grant 
Llywodraeth Cymru, a oedd yn cynnwys gwasanaethau ymyrraeth gynnar ac atal cynnar. 
Roedd y costau ychwanegol yn cynnwys y gwasanaethau ychwanegol a ddarperir gan 
Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili, a dywedwyd wrth yr aelodau y byddai gwybodaeth ariannu 
Teuluoedd yn Gyntaf yn cael ei dosbarthu i'r aelodau ar ôl y cyfarfod.  
 
Eglurodd un Aelod nad y tanwariant o £2,938,000 a ragwelir fyddai'r ffigwr terfynol gan mai 
dim ond rhagamcan oedd hwn. Cynghorwyd yr Aelodau bod y ffigurau hyn yn seiliedig ar y 
ffigurau presennol ym mis Mehefin a'r costau amcangyfrifedig ar gyfer y dyfodol yn seiliedig ar 
y ffigurau hyn.  
 
Holodd un Aelod ynghylch y tanwariant o £43,000 yn y Gwasanaeth Troseddau Ieuenctid a 
chafwyd trafodaeth wedyn ynghylch a fyddai ad-daliad i Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili yn 
digwydd, o ystyried costau cynyddol y gwasanaeth yn y dyfodol.  
 
Gofynnodd un Aelod am eglurhad ynghylch y cymorth a roddir i blant sy’n ceisio lloches ac a 
ydyn nhw'n cael eu lleoli gyda theuluoedd neu gartrefi plant yn y Fwrdeistref Sirol. 
Cynghorwyd yr Aelodau bod y Swyddfa Gartref wedi cyflwyno’r Cynllun Trosglwyddo 
Cenedlaethol y llynedd, sy'n gallu caniatáu ymateb cyflym i blant ar eu pen eu hunain y gellir 
eu symud o Gaint i unrhyw le yn y DU, ac mae gan bob awdurdod lleol yn y DU darged i’w 
gyrraedd mewn perthynas â chynorthwyo’r plant hyn. Cynghorwyd yr Aelodau bod gan 
mwyafrif y plant ddealltwriaeth dda o'r Saesneg ac anaml y ceir anawsterau o ran iaith, er bod 
gwasanaethau cyfieithu ar y pryd ar gael.  
 
Eglurodd un Aelod fod y tanwariant yn y gwasanaethau i oedolion ar gyfer gofal cartref yn 
ymwneud yn uniongyrchol â diffyg staff.  Eglurodd yr Aelod hefyd fod y swyddi gwag yn y 
gwasanaethau i oedolion wedi cynyddu, a bod 'costau eraill' yn ymwneud â thîm datblygu'r 
gweithlu ar y cyd â Blaenau Gwent, a oedd yn darparu cymorth ar draws y gyfadran, a hefyd y 
byddai 'costau eraill' yn cynnwys cymorth TG, yswiriant, a gwiriadau'r Gwasanaeth Datgelu a 
Gwahardd.   
 
Gofynnodd y Cadeirydd am eglurhad ar yr ymrwymiadau a ragwelir o fewn y gwasanaethau i 
oedolion ac a oedd unrhyw gynlluniau wrth gefn wedi'u hystyried.  Cynghorwyd yr Aelodau 
bod cynlluniau wrth gefn wedi'u cynnwys mewn perthynas â darpariaeth gwasanaethau dydd 
a bod rhywfaint o ddarpariaeth ar gyfer costau cynyddol. Fodd bynnag, mae problemau o ran 
staffio yn creu rhagor o anhawster o ran unrhyw gynlluniau wrth gefn.  
 
Hefyd, holodd y Cadeirydd ynghylch cau Cartref Preswyl South View yn y Fwrdeistref Sirol a 
ddefnyddiwyd ac a ariannwyd gan Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf.  
Cynghorwyd yr aelodau bod Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf bellach wedi 

Page 6



symud y preswylwyr allan o'r eiddo hwn gan nad oedd bellach yn cwrdd â'u hanghenion nhw, 
a bod Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili yn edrych i addasu'r adeilad ar gyfer ei ddefnyddio.  
 
Nododd y Pwyllgor Craffu gynnwys yr adroddiad.  
 
  
Terfynwyd y cyfarfod am 7.05pm. 

   
 Wedi'i gymeradwyo fel cofnod cywir, yn ddarostyngedig i unrhyw ddiwygiadau a gytunir a'u 

cofnodir yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhelir ar 28 Tachwedd 2023.  
 
 

__________________ 
CADEIRYDD  

Page 7



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 8



 
 
 

EDUCATION AND SOCIAL SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE -    
28TH NOVEMBER 2023 

 
 

SUBJECT: EDUCATION AND SOCIAL SERVICES SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME  
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES 

 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 

1.1 To report the Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee Forward Work 
Programme.   

 
 

2. SUMMARY 

 
2.1 Forward Work Programmes are essential to ensure that Scrutiny Committee agendas 

reflect the strategic issues facing the Council and other priorities raised by Members, 
the public or stakeholder. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1 That Members consider any changes and agree the final forward work programme 

prior to publication. 
 

 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
4.1 To improve the operation of scrutiny. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 

 
5.1 The Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee forward work programme 

includes all reports that were identified at the Committee Meeting on Tuesday 17th 
October 2023. The work programme outlines the reports planned for the period 
November 2023 until March 2024. 

 
5.2 The forward Work Programme is made up of reports identified by officers and 

members.  Members are asked to consider the work programme alongside the 

Page 9

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 5



cabinet work programme and suggest any changes before it is published on the 
council website.  The Scrutiny committee will review this work programme at every 
meeting going forward alongside any changes to the cabinet work programme or 
report requests.  

 
5.3 The Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programme is 

attached at Appendix 1, which presents the current status as at 3rd November 2023. 
The Cabinet Work Programme is attached at Appendix 2. A copy of the prioritisation 
flowchart is attached at appendix 3 to assist the scrutiny committee to determine 
what items should be added to the forward work programme. 

 
 

5.4 Conclusion   

The work programme is for consideration and amendment by the scrutiny committee 

prior to publication on the council website.   

 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 No assumptions are necessary.     

 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 As this report is for information only an Integrated Impact Assessment is not 
necessary.  

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 There are no specific financial implications arising as a result of this report. 
 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no specific personnel implications arising as a result of this report.  
 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 There are no consultation responses that have not been included in this report. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  

 
11.1 The Local Government Act 2000.  
 
 
 
Author:        Mark Jacques, Scrutiny Officer jacqum@carphilly.gov.uk  
 
Consultees: Dave Street, Deputy Chief Executive 
 Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education and Corporate 

Page 10



Services 
 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer 
 Gareth Jenkins, Interim Director of Social Services  
 Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services/ Monitoring Officer 
 Lisa Lane, Head of Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer, 

Legal Services 
Councillor Teresa Parry, Chair of Education and Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee 
Councillor Brenda Miles, Vice Chair of Education and Social Services 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee Forward Work 

Programme  
Appendix 2 Cabinet Forward Work Programme 
Appendix 3 Forward Work Programme Prioritisation Flowchart 
 

 

Page 11



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 12



Date Title Key Issues Author Cabinet Member

28/11/23 17:30 Sustainable Communities for Learning Band B Proposal – Ysgol Y Lawnt / Upper Rhymney Primary

For Scrutiny Members to consider the 

Consultation Report and endorse the 

recommendation to proceed to the 

publication of a Statutory Notice

West, Andrea; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

28/11/23 17:30 Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme - Proposal for the closure of Cwm Glas Infants School

For Scrutiny Members to consider the 

Consultation Report and endorse the 

recommendation to proceed to the 

publication of a Statutory Notice

West, Andrea; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

28/11/23 17:30 Directors Annual Report For Social Services Jenkins, Gareth; Cllr. Forehead, Elaine; 

28/11/23 17:30 Information Item - 2023/24 Budget Monitoring Report (Month 5) Jones, Mike; Cllr. Forehead, Elaine;

28/11/23 17:30 Information Item - Budget Monitoring (Period 5) Southcombe, Jane; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

28/11/23 17:30 Information Item - Caerphilly Cares Support Package for families eligible for free school meals McMahon, Tina; Cllr. Forehead, Elaine;

30/01/24 17:30 Caerphilly Cares/ Employee volunteering scheme update and initial 6 months review McMahon, Tina; Cllr. Forehead, Elaine;

30/01/24 17:30 Amalgamation report West, Andrea; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

30/01/24 17:30 Key Stage 4 Outcomes - Summer 2023 Cole, Keri; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

30/01/24 17:30 Additional Support
Model of delegation

Feedback from consultations
Ellis, Sarah; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

30/01/24 17:30 Information Item - Budget Monitoring Period 7 Southcombe, Jane; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

12/03/24 17:30 Sustainable Communities for Learning Band B Proposal – Ysgol Y Lawnt / Upper Rhymney Primary

For Scrutiny Members to consider the 

Objection Report and endorse the 

recommendation to Cabinet to proceed 

to the Planning Application Stage and 

submission of a Full Business Case to 

Welsh Government

West, Andrea; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

12/03/24 17:30 Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme - Proposal for the closure of Cwm Glas Infants School

For Scrutiny Members to consider the 

Objection Report and endorse the 

recommendation to Cabinet to proceed 

to closing the school

West, Andrea; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

12/03/24 17:30 Winter Pressures Street, Dave; Cllr. Forehead, Carol;

12/03/24 17:30 Healthy schools on Vaping Cole, Keri; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

12/03/24 17:30 Information Item - Welsh Education Scrutiny Plan (WESP) Action Plan Mutch, Sarah; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

12/03/24 17:30 Information Item - Budget Monitoring (Period 9) Southcombe, Jane; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

23/04/24 17:30 Schools Causing Concern Cole, Keri; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

23/04/24 17:30 School Inspection Update Cole, Keri; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

23/04/24 17:30 Safeguarding

Critical areas of work undertaken

Impact of the work 

Next steps

Ellis, Sarah; Cllr. Andrews, Carol;

Forward Work Programme - Education and Social Services                                        Appendix 1

P
age 13



G
adew

ir y dudalen hon yn w
ag yn fw

riadol

P
age 14



 
Cabinet Forward Work Programme – 21st November 2023      Appendix 2 
                  
Meeting date:        Report title:                                         Key issue:                                        Report author                        Cabinet Member: 

13/12/2023 

13:00 p.m.   

Sustainable Communities for 

Learning Band B Proposal – 
Ysgol Y Lawnt / Upper 

Rhymney Primary 

For Cabinet to consider the 

Consultation Report and 
approve the publication of a 

Statutory Notice. 
 

Sue Richards/Andrea 

West 

Cllr Carol Andrews 

13/12/2023 Proposal for the closure of Cwm 

Glas Infants School 

For Cabinet to consider the 

Consultation Report and 
approve the publication of a 
Statutory Notice. 

Sue Richards/Andrea 

West 

Cllr Carol Andrews 

13/12/2023 Housing Revenue Account 

Charges – 2024/2025 (Rent 
increase report) 

For Cabinet to agree the level of 
rent increase for council contract 
holders (tenants) effective from 
April 2024 

Lesley Allen Cllr Shayne Cook 

13/12/2023 Housing Offices Rationalisation 
Report  

As part of a review of how we 
provide housing services to our 
customers and communities, 

and following a comprehensive 
customer consultation exercise, 

we are seeking approval to 
permanently close all existing 
Housing Offices, replacing them 

with a centralised Housing 
Office in Penallta House. This 

will facilitate service 
modernisation and 
improvements by reducing the 

need for customers to travel to 
a housing office to receive 

services, making housing 
officers more available to our 
customers through working 

agilely within our communities, 
thereby increasing opportunities 

for access and engagement and 

Fiona Wilkins/Julie 
Reynolds/Nick Taylor- 
Williams 

Cllr Shayne Cook P
age 15



 
Cabinet Forward Work Programme – 21st November 2023      Appendix 2 
                  
Meeting date:        Report title:                                         Key issue:                                        Report author                        Cabinet Member: 

building better relationships with 

our customers. 
 

13/12/2023 Greater Blackwood Masterplan For Members to consider the 

Draft Greater Blackwood 
Masterplan. The report will seek 
the views of members prior to 

its presentation to Cabinet, 
where Cabinet will be asked to 

endorse the Draft Masterplan as 
the basis for a public 
consultation exercise. 

 

Rhian Kyte Cllr James Pritchard 

13/12/2023 New Listed Buildings at Risk 
Strategy 

To seek Cabinet approval for 
the Authority’s Buildings at Risk 

Register and Strategy which 
sets out a framework for the 

preservation and enhancement 
of listed buildings at risk over 
the period 2023-2028. 

Rhian Kyte Cllr Philippa Leonard 

13/12/2023 Council Tax Base 2024/25 For Cabinet to agree the 

calculation of the Council Tax 
Base for 2024/25 financial year. 

Sean O'Donnell Cllr. Eluned Stenner 

13/12/2023 Consultation on Proposals to 

Implement Council Tax 
Premiums on Long-term Empty 

Properties and Second Homes 

To seek Cabinet approval to 

undertake a consultation 
process on the implementation 

of premiums 

Sean O'Donnell Cllr. Eluned Stenner 

13/12/2023 Cwm Ifor Solar Farm final 
business case 

Consideration of updated 
financial information and 
options for Cwm Ifor Solar Farm 

to inform whether to proceed 
with granting additional funding 

Anna Lewis/Paul 
Cooke/Sue Richards 

Cllr James Pritchard 

P
age 16



 
Cabinet Forward Work Programme – 21st November 2023      Appendix 2 
                  
Meeting date:        Report title:                                         Key issue:                                        Report author                        Cabinet Member: 

for the grid connection followed 

by progression of the final 
business case. 

 

17/01/2024 
13:00 p.m. 

Caerphilly Cares Support 
Package for families eligible for 
free school meals 

Welsh Government withdrawal 
of free school meals for eligible 
families during the school 

holidays. 
 

Tina McMahon Cllr Carol Andrews 

17/01/2024 

 

Grass Cutting Regimes – 2024 

Season 

To consider options and 

proposals for grass cutting for 
the 2024 cutting season 

Rob Hartshorn Cllr Chris Morgan 

17/01/2024 Draft Waste Strategy To approve the draft waste 

strategy for public consultation. 

Marcus Lloyd/Hayley 

Jones 

Cllr Chris Morgan 

17/01/2024 Support for pupils unable to 

attend school (formerly “Tuition” 
report). 

To seek Cabinet approval for 

proposals for revising the model 
of support for pupils accessing 
tuition. 

 

Keri Cole Cllr Carol Andrews 

17/01/2024 Draft Budget Proposals for 
2024/25 

To present Cabinet with details 
of the draft budget proposals for 

the 2024/25 financial year to 
allow for a period of 
consultation prior to a final 

decision by Council on 27 
February 2024. 

 

Christina Harrhy/ 
Stephen Harris 

Cllr Eluned Stenner 

21/02/2024 
13:00 p.m. 

Additional Support Delegation - 
Education 

To seek agreement to proceed 
with the delegation of additional 

support to schools. 

Keri Cole/Sarah Ellis Cllr Carol Andrews 

P
age 17



 
Cabinet Forward Work Programme – 21st November 2023      Appendix 2 
                  
Meeting date:        Report title:                                         Key issue:                                        Report author                        Cabinet Member: 

 

21/02/2024 Community Benefits Guidance - 

for projects and developments 
with the potential for significant 

community impact 

Setting out the council’s advice 

on how community benefits 
contributions from projects and 

developments within the county 
borough might be agreed and 
distributed. 

 

Sue Richards/Kath 

Peters 

Cllr James Pritchard/Cllr 

Philippa Leonard 

21/02/2024 Budget Proposals for 2024/25 To seek Cabinet endorsement 
of the 2024/25 budget 

proposals prior to final 
determination by Council on 
27th February 2024. 

Stephen Harris Cllr Eluned Stenner 

P
age 18



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMMES 
APPENDIX 3 

 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMMES 
APPENDIX 3 

Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programme Prioritisation 

          

 

 

                      

 

            

         

            

            

            

               

 

            

            

               

            

                 

            

            

               

                  

            

            

            

            

         

 

  

Is the issue of strategic 

importance? 

There is concern of poor 

performance or a significant 

budgetary issue has been 

identified 

Issue identified as corporate 

priority or identified as 

service or corporate risk 

 

Is the topic timely? Will 

scrutiny be able to make 

recommendations? 

Suitable for Scrutiny 

Forward Work 

Programme 

No 

No 

Suitable as Task and Finish 

group review 

Unsuitable for Scrutiny 

Forward Work 

Programme 

No 

Issue highlighted by an 

Auditor, Regulator or 

Inspector, which identified 

areas for improvement or 

concern. 

No 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Change to Legislation or 

Guidance 
No 

Evidence of public 

dissatisfaction (e.g. Public 

Satisfaction Survey)  
Yes 

 

No 

No Yes 

 

Page 19



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 20



 
 
 

EDUCATION AND SOCIAL SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
28TH NOVEMBER 2023 

 
 

SUBJECT: SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES FOR LEARNING BAND B 
PROGRAMME - CONSULTATION REPORT: YSGOL Y LAWNT & 
UPPER RHYMNEY PRIMARY SCHOOL PROPOSAL  

 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES 
 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to update Scrutiny Members in relation to the 
Sustainable Communities for Learning Band B proposal in respect of the proposal 
outlined below: 
 
 Relocation of Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper Rhymney Primary School 

The proposal seeks to create a sustainable school building with shared facilities, 
to accommodate Ysgol Y Lawnt, Upper Rhymney Primary School and 
Community use.  The two schools will continue to provide both Welsh and 
English Medium Primary education and remain as separate entities, situated 
within the new dual purpose building. 

 
 
1.2 Members are asked to consider the information contained in the Consultation Report 

and endorse the recommendations to Cabinet, via vote, to proceed to Statutory 
Notice. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Sustainable Communities for Learning Band B proposal for Ysgol Y Lawnt and 

Upper Rhymney Primary School went to formal consultation between the 28th 
September 2023 and the 9th November 2023. 

 

2.2  To discharge the Council’s duty under the School Organisation Code 2018, there is 
now a requirement for Cabinet members to give due regard to the content of the 
Consultation Report and determine whether or not it is appropriate to move to the 
next stage in the process.  

 
2.3 A Consultation Report has been compiled and attached as an annex to this report.   

The Consultation Report summarises each of the issues raised by consultees.  Any 

Page 21

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 7



emerging themes that have been raised through gathering the views of consultees 
during the consultation process have been responded to by means of clarification 
with supporting reasons.   

 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1.1 Prior to a report being presented to Cabinet, Scrutiny Members are asked to: - 
 

a) Consider the information contained in the Consultation Report 
b) Endorse the recommendation to Cabinet, via vote, to proceed to Statutory Notice 

in relation to the proposal for Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper Rhymney Primary School 

 

 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
4.1 To ensure Members are updated on the progress of the Sustainable Communities for 

Learning Band B programme. 
 
4.2 To seek Members endorsement on the recommendations to Cabinet, via vote, to 

proceed to the publication of a Statutory Notice in respect of the proposal. 
 
4.3 Assist the Council in discharging its duties in line with the requirements of the Welsh 

Government’s School Organisation Code 2018. 
 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 

 
Band B  
 
5.1 The Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme is a major, long term and 

strategic capital investment programme supporting large scale capital building 
projects across Wales with the aim of educational transformation through enhancing 
school buildings and developing them as hubs for learning to meet 21st Century 
Educational and Community needs.  

 
5.2 The Programme focuses resources on the right school, in the right place, from early 

years through to post-16, with funding jointly provided by Welsh Government and 
Local Authorities.  

 
5.3 The key aims of the Sustainable Communities for Learning Band B investment 

programme, outlined by Welsh Government, is: 
 

 Investment Objective One - to provide efficient and effective educational 
infrastructure that will meet current and future demand for places 

 
  To include: 

o The right number of places for the delivery of Welsh and English medium 
education 

o Addressing sufficiency issues where relevant 
o Reducing in Backlog maintenance costs for schools 
o Working towards Net Zero Public Sector Buildings in line with Welsh 

Government Carbon Reduction Commitments 
 

Page 22



 

 Investment Objective Two – to optimise the use of infrastructure and resources, 
to deliver public services for our communities.  

 
This will include:  

o Flexibility of our assets so that space and facilities available for our 
stakeholders are maximised. 
 

5.4 The schemes identified for Phases 1 & 2 of the Band B programme were: 
 

 A new replacement Ysgol Gymraeg Cwm Gwyddon on the former Cwmcarn 
High School site. 

 An extension of Trinity Fields School and Resource Centre 
 The amalgamation of Llancaeach Junior School and Llanfabon Infants School 

to create a new Primary School provision  

 A new replacement Plasyfelin Primary School on the existing site 

 The establishment of a Centre for Vulnerable Pupils (Pupil Referral Unit) on the 
former Pontllanfraith Comprehensive site 

 
5.5 Phase 3 – Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper Rhymney Primary School 
 

5.5.1 The proposal seeks to create a sustainable school building with shared facilities, to 
accommodate Ysgol Y Lawnt, Upper Rhymney Primary School and Community use. 

 
5.5.2 The two schools will continue to provide both Welsh and English Medium Primary 

education and remain as separate and segregated entities, situated within the new 
dual purpose building. 

 
5.5.3 The new school build will be designed to maximise local infrastructure, sustainability 

and energy efficiencies in meeting the Welsh Government Net Zero Carbon School 
requirements. 

 
5.5.4 Further to Cabinet approval gained on 28th June 2023, formal consultation for the 

proposal was carried out between the 28th September 2023 and the 9th November 
2023. 

 
5.5.5 A prescribed list of recipients as outlined in the School Organisation Code 2018 were 

written to and a consultation document was published in Welsh and English, both in 
hardcopy and electronically via the Authority’s website based.  Reasonable access to 
information was promoted from an Equalities perspective and other formats were 
available, including a child friendly version. 

 
5.5.6 Members of the Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee who met on the 

17th October 2023 in their capacity as a consultee under the School Organisation 
Code 2018, had the opportunity to consider the information contained in the 
consultation pack and provide their views which have been noted as part of the 
minutes of the meeting and summarised in the Consultation Report. 

 
5.5.7 The consultation period ran for 42 days (with at least 20 of these being school days) 

to provide adequate time for response and conscientious consideration has been 
given to any responses received.   

 
 

Page 23



5.5.8 There were 19 responses received in respect of the proposal as outlined in 1.1.  In 
addition, a number of pupils from both schools engaged in the consultation process 
through ‘learner voice’ sessions which have been reported on separately.  These are 
broken down into more detail in the Consultation Report. 

 
5.5.9 A Consultation Report has been compiled and has been attached as an annex to this 

report.   The Consultation Report summarises each of the issues raised by 
consultees.  Any emerging themes that have been raised through gathering the 
views of consultees during the consultation process have been responded to by 
means of clarification with supporting reasons.  In addition, Estyn has provided a 
formal response in consideration of the educational aspects of the proposal which is 
included in the Consultation Report. 

 
5.5.10  The Consultation Report will be published electronically on the Sustainable 

Communities for Learning pages on the Council’s website.   
 
5.5.11 Consultees who have indicated in their consultation response that they wish to be 

notified will be advised by letter or email of the availability of the Consultation Report 
along with the key stakeholders identified in the School Organisation Code 2018.  

 
 
5.6 Conclusion   

Pursuant to the requirements of the School Organisation Code 2018, formal 
consultation has now concluded in relation to this proposal and this report has been 
compiled along with the Consultation Report to provide members with the necessary 
information to make an informed decision as to whether to progress the proposal to 
the next statutory stage which would entail permission to publish a Statutory Notice. 
The School Standards & Organisation (Wales) Act 2013, provides that anyone 
wishing to make objections to a school organisation proposal has the opportunity to 
do so at this stage. An Objection Report will then be brought before Cabinet in 
addition to an updated Integrated Impact Assessment, and at this point, a final 
determination regarding the proposal will be requested. 

 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 No assumptions have been made in relation to this report as it merely updates on the 
progress of individual projects.  

 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT   

 
7.1  A full Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) has been completed in relation to the proposal 

to ensure compliance with the socio-economic duty, Sections 1 to 3 of Equality Act 2010.  
 

Link to IIA (Cymraeg) 
 
Link to IIA (English) 

 
 
7.2 Subject to Cabinet approval to progress to Statutory Notice, the IIA will be further 

reviewed and updated after this stage.  The purpose of this further assessment is to take 
account of any further information that has come forward through the consultation stages 
or otherwise, to further support conscientious consideration prior to final determination. 

Page 24

https://www.caerffili.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/iia-yyl-urp-wel.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/iia-yyl-urp-eng.aspx


 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

  
8.1 The estimated proposed project cost for the relocation of Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper 

Rhymney Primary, which forms the next phase of the Sustainable Communities for 
Learning Band B programme, totals £17,605,140.   

 
8.2 Costings are based on Building Bulletin 98 and the Welsh Government 2024 Cost 

allowance.  Subject to approval to proceed, further verification will be undertaken by 
the Council’s Quantity Surveyor prior to submission to Welsh Government (WG). 

 
8.3  The Authority’s contribution of £6,052,119 to be set aside from the Authority’s Place 

Shaping reserve.  
 

Project Name: LA Contribution  WG contribution Total Funding 

New School Build £5,777,916 
(35%) 

 £10,730,414 
(65%) 

£16,508,330 

SRB (16 places) £274,203  
(25%) 

£822,607  
(75%) 

£1,096,810 

TOTAL PROJECT £6,052,119 £11,553,021 £17,605,140 

 
  
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 This will be dependent on specific proposals and will be considered as part of the 

process. 
 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 The draft report was distributed as detailed below. All comments received have been 

reflected in this version of the report. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  

 
11.1 School Organisation Code 2018 (Welsh Government)  

School Standards & Organisation (Wales) Act 2013  
 
 
Author:   Andrea West, Sustainable Communities for Learning Manager 
  
Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive  

Dave Street, Deputy Chief Executive 
Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director of Education and Corporate Services  
Mark S Williams, Corporate Director for Economy and Environment 
Councillor Carol Andrews, Cabinet Member for Education and Communities  
Councillor Teresa Parry, Chair, Education &Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee 
Councillor Brenda Miles, Vice Chair Education &Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee 
Sue Richards, Head of Transformation 
Steve Harris, Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer 

Page 25



 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer 
Sarah Ellis, Lead for Inclusion & ALN  
Sarah Mutch, Early Years Manager 
Paul Warren, Strategic Lead for School Improvement 
Jane Southcombe, Financial Services Manager 
Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 
Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Service and Monitoring Officer 

 Ben Winstanley, Head of Land and Property Services 
  Steve Pugh, Corporate Communications Manager 
 
Appendices: 
 
Link to Consultation Report – Ysgol Y Lawnt & Upper Rhymney Primary School (Cymraeg) 
 
Link to Consultation Report – Ysgol Y Lawnt & Upper Rhymney Primary School (English) 
 

Page 26

https://www.caerffili.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/consultation-document-yyl-urp-cym.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/consultation-document-yyl-urp-eng.aspx


Sustainable Communities for Learning 

Consultation Report 
   
 

Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper Rhymney Primary School 

  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposal :  To create a sustainable Net Zero Carbon school buildings with shared facilities to 
accommodate Ysgol Y Lawnt, Upper Rhymney Primary School and Community 

use.   

 
Formal Consultation Period : 28th September 2023 – 9th November 2023 

 

This report is published in line with the requirements of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 

2013 and the School Organisation Code 2018. 

 
 

           

caerphilly.gov.uk/21centuryschools 

 

Page 27



 

 

FOREWORD 
 

“Working together to deliver the  best 

outcomes for all our children”  

Caerphilly County Borough Council has embarked upon an exciting but 

challenging journey of improvement and change.  We have bold 

ambitions to provide every learner with the best life chances and we are 

committed to doing this through the provision of high quality teaching, 

learning and leadership across our school settings as part of our 

Education Strategy – Pursuing Excellence Together. 

We have focused on improving young people’s outcomes and this is still 

a priority area moving forward incorporating a holistic view of education.  

The Council has adopted ‘Improving education opportunities for all’ as 

the first of its Wellbeing Objectives and has committed to an ambitious 

Sustainable Communities for Learning investment programme. 

In collaboration with Welsh Government, the Sustainable Communities 

for Learning Band B Programme is supporting investment in education 

within the County Borough.  Our aspiration is the improvement of the 

condition of school buildings and maximising community usage. 

Our current proposals support our commitment to increase school 

effectiveness and to narrow inequalities in achievement across groups; 

to understand the needs of more vulnerable children; promote the Welsh 

Language, and support those unable to access traditional learning 

pathways to ensure that all will benefit from the richness of learning and 

cultural opportunities.  These principles help steer our decision making 

and prioritise projects. 

As part of this proposal a consultation exercise has been carried out in 

line with the requirements of the School Organisation Code 2018. All 

stakeholders have had the opportunity to participate and make 

comments. 

This Consultation Report has been produced to summarise the emerging 

themes raised by consultees during the consultation period including 

Estyn’s feedback.  It aims to provide a balanced, transparent document 

to support Cabinet in deciding whether to progress with the proposal, 

make changes or not to progress. 

I hope you find this document informative as a reflection of the activities 

undertaken to date and an insight into the journey we are on, shaping 

delivery and placing learning provision at the heart of our communities. 

 

Richard Edmunds 

Corporate Director for 

Education and Corporate 

Services 

Page 28



3 
 

 

This document is available in Welsh and English. Information can also be made available in other 

formats, languages and in hard copy on request. Please contact us on 01443 864817 to arrange 

this. 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Introduction 

 Executive Summary  
 Statutory Obligations 

 Purpose of the Consultation Report  
 What is the Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme? 

 

 

 

Proposal 

 What are we proposing to do? 
 What is driving this proposal? 
 Options Appraisal  

 Benefits and Disbenefits 
 

 

 

The Consultation Process 

 Consultation Process 
 Stakeholder Engagement 
 Consultation Information 
 Response Methods 

 

 

  

Consultation Responses 

 Consultation Responses 
 Scrutiny Committee Response 
 Estyn’s Response (summary) 

 

 

 

Learner Voice 

 School Council / Pupil Engagement 
o Schools directly affected by Proposal 

o Other schools identified as being affected 

 

 

  

Other Considerations 

 Consultation Clarification 
 Reasonable Alternatives Identified 

 

 

 

Next Steps 

 Recommendation  
 Decision Making  

 Reporting, Notification and Publishing of Information  
 

 

 

Supporting Information 

 Annex 1: Key Consultation Documents 
 Annex 2: Estyn’s Response (Full version) 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



4 
 

  INTRODUCTION 

 

Executive Summary 

Schools in Wales need to be in good condition and suitable for the delivery of education.  In 

some cases, schools can be modernised, repaired, refurbished, extended, or partially rebuilt to 

meet the standards needed for contemporary teaching and learning.  However, some existing 

schools are no longer in the right place and in such cases, we might propose new schools or 

changes to existing schools. 

Caerphilly County Borough Council aspires to continue to raise school standards and improve 

the quality of the learning environment to create fit-for-purpose 21st century schools and give 

every child in Caerphilly the best possible start in life. 

For proposals relating to schools, the School Organisation Code 2018, provides clear statutory 

guidance as to the processes that need to be adhered to.  Undertaking a consultation exercise 

is one of the initial stages of progressing any proposal and is subject to Welsh Government and 

Cabinet approval.   

From the 28th September 2023 to the 9 th November 2023 a consultation exercise was undertaken.   

The purpose of the consultation was to gain views on the proposal to create a sustainable Net 

Zero Carbon school buildings with shared facilities, to accommodate Ysgol Y Lawnt, Upper 

Rhymney Primary School and Community use.  The two schools will continue to provide both 

Welsh and English Medium Primary education and remain as separate entities, situated within 

the new dual purpose building. 

This Consultation Report is the prescribed method as outlined by the School Organisation Code 

2018 for reflection, review and assessment to provide Cabinet with the information to make an 

informed decision as to whether to proceed with the proposal to the next stage, amend the 

proposal taking into account further information that has come forward through the consultation 

process or to close this proposal with no further actions taken. 

The Report is divided into several sections with the aim to: 

 Outline the consultation processes undertaken  

 Provide clarification in relation to the information provided and consultee engagement 

 Summarise each of the issues raised by consultees  

 Set out Estyn’s response to the consultation in full  

 Respond to issues raised by means of clarification, amendment to the proposal or 

rejection of the concerns, with supporting reasons 

 

Statutory Obligations 

This report is published in line with the requirements of the School Standards and Organisation 

(Wales) Act 2013 and the School Organisation Code 2018.  

The Consultation report will be published on the Caerphilly Sustainable Communities for 

Learning website with hardcopies available on request.  All information is published in Welsh 

and English.  In addition, a child friendly summary has also been produced to ensure information 

is provided in an accessible format for any children and young people affected by the proposals. 

 

Page 30

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/1/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/1/contents/enacted
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-code-second-edition.pdf


5 
 

Purpose of the Consultation Report 

The publication of this Consultation Report discharges the Council of its duty under the School 

Organisation Code 2018. 

The consultation period represented an opportunity for people to learn about the proposal, ask 

questions and make comments.  Any negative responses made during the consultation period 

were not counted as objections to the proposal but as adverse comments. 

Objections to a proposal can only be registered after the publication of a statutory notice. 

The Consultation Report outlines the processes followed, provides clarity on the issues and 
comments received from consultees, ensures that the views of children and young people 

affected by the proposal are expressed and ultimately, provides Cabinet with the necessary 
information to take one of the following decisions: 

 Proceed with the proposal 

 Make changes to the proposal 

 Not to proceed with the proposal 

Full details of the decision making process and the stages of the proposal as outlined in the 

School Organisation Code 2018 have been published as part of the initial Consultation 

Document and is publicly available via the Council’s website with hardcopies made available on 

request. 

 

What is the Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme? 

The Sustainable Communities for Learning programme is a major, long-term, strategic capital 
investment programme.  It is jointly funded by the Welsh Government and local authorities and 

aims to create a generation of 21st century schools in Wales.  

We identified a need to invest in improving our school buildings, meeting the demand for 
education in both Welsh and English, reducing surplus places and developing shared and co-
located facilities.  Our aspiration is to provide efficient and effective educational infrastructure 

that will meet current and future demand for places and for all facilities that receive investment 
committed to optimising the use of the infrastructure and resources, making assets available 

for community use.   

 

Band A funding in Caerphilly was used to deliver : 

 

 
 
Image of Islwyn High School 

Project Name Band A 
Investment 

 Islwyn High School £22.6m 

 Ysgol Gymraeg Cwm Rhymni, Y Gwyndy 
Campus 

£19.2m 

 Idris Davies School 3-18 £8m 

 Newbridge School extension £2.6m 

 Blackwood Comprehensive improvements  £2m 

 Blackwood Comprehensive 3G pitch £865k 

 Trinity Fields School improvements  £1.3m 

 
 

Band B funding is being used to deliver : 

Page 31



6 
 

 
 

 
 
Artist Impression of new YG Cwm Gwyddon 

Project Name Band B Investment 

 Ysgol Gymraeg Cwm Gwyddon 
 

 Trinity Fields School expansion 

 Pupil Referral Unit, Pontllanfraith 

 Llancaeach/Llanfabon School amalgamation 
 

 Plasyfelin Primary School 
‘Our 1st Net Zero Carbon School’ 

 
 
Educational transformation remains a vital outcome of our investment in Band B of the 
Programme, with the priority areas being: 

 

 Reduce the number of poor condition schools 

 Ensure that we have the right size schools in the right location  

 Provide enough places to deliver Welsh and English medium education 

 Ensure the effective and efficient use of the educational estate 
 

Further information is available on the Sustainable Communities for Learning webpages  

 

  PROPOSAL 

 

What are we proposing to do? 

We are proposing to: 

o Relocation of Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper Rhymney Primary School 

 
The proposal seeks to create a sustainable Net Zero Carbon school buildings with shared 

facilities, to accommodate Ysgol Y Lawnt, Upper Rhymney Primary School and Community use.   

 

Artist Impression  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
It must be emphasised that both schools would remain independent entities, the existing 

catchment areas would remain unchanged and each school would occupy their own separate 
teaching areas within the new building. 

Page 32

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sustainable-communities-learning


7 
 

 

 
 The new building will incorporate primary school facilities as well as childcare and 

separate Special Resource Base provision for each school, one with 8 places for Welsh 
medium and  the other providing 8 places for English medium. 

 

 The proposed new building will include a shared bi-lingual reception area and flexible 
and adaptable communal facilities for example a Hall that can be subdivided and a 

separate kitchen servery so that provision is delivered in the appropriate language 
medium for each school.  The configuration of these facilities will be designed in a 
manner enabling independent use by each school respectively if needed to minimise 

infringement on current activities or opened up for shared utilisation to provide wider 
community cohesion. 
 

  The new primary school site will have improved outside learning space and facilities that 
will be segregated between each school to provide stimulating teaching and learning 

environments with 21st Century facilities centred on the learning, self-esteem and well-
being of all pupils. 
 

  The proposed project will take into account the desire to encourage and facilitate 
community use of the entire building, in partnership with both Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper 

Rhymney Primary School. The design will seek to include measures to enable safe 
‘zoning’ which can be utilised by the wider community.  It should be noted that any 
existing community provision at the existing schools would be encouraged to relocate to 

the new site which will have upgraded facilities. 
 

Each school will retain their existing Governing Body arrangements, however, a joint committee 
will be established consisting of representatives from both schools to establish terms and 
conditions about the working mechanisms relating to maintenance, access and general policies 

relating the site as a whole.  
 

Building on the Net Zero Carbon mandate our proposal is framed to demonstrate innovative 
and collaborative design, encompassing the built environment and the surrounding landscape 
in a way that enriches pupils’ daily life.  

 

Through developing a sustainable, flexible site, this would enable: 

 Space maximisation for reconfiguration of site 

 Shared communal facilities including adaptable hall, community room, kitchen and 

storage capable of delivering the universal free school meals offer 

 A longer elemental lifespan 

 Lower whole life cost  

 Improved value for money 

 
For reference, a similar approach has been taken by Cardiff Council as part of their Gabalfa 

Primary School and Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal project, whereby both schools are co-located 

in a building with shared communal facilities and continue to operate successfully as separate 

entities delivering Welsh and English education. 

What is driving this proposal? 

Proposals have been prioritised based on a number of factors including building condition, pupil 

projection and local and national drivers, however, the delivery of the curriculum and the 

Educational agenda remains at the core. 

Page 33



8 
 

 

Options Appraisal 

The planning and development of effective school organisation proposals is crucial to the Welsh 

Government’s goal of transforming education in Wales and providing better educational 

outcomes with a commitment to increase school effectiveness, and narrow inequalities in 

achievement between advantaged and disadvantaged areas, groups and individuals. 

The Welsh Government’s Business Case Guidance in relation to utilisation of the Options 
Framework approach has been followed to identify the widest possible number of feasible 

options, focusing on the following key dimensions: scope, service solution, service delivery, 
implementation and funding.  

An options appraisal provides the opportunity to help councils make an informed and evidence 
based decision on how to deliver services. It does this by considering the relative advantages 
and disadvantages of a number of different delivery model options (including the current way in 

which the service is delivered). 

The methodology helps decision makers to consider the: 

 Desirability - the degree to which each option meets the strategic objectives and priorities of 
stakeholders 

 Viability - the degree to which each option is financially viable and sustainable 

 Feasibility - the degree to which each option can be implemented 

As part of outlining the current proposal, an options appraisal was undertaken. 

The options appraisal stage allowed for a number of different delivery model options to be 

explored and evaluated against a set of agreed criteria, leading to the selection of the preferred 

option.   

Table 1: Options Appraisal Longlist 

 

Option Longlist Options:  Description 

 

Option 1  

 

Do Nothing : 

No change to existing schools 
Option 2  

 

Do Minimum:   

Internal refurbishments of both school sites 

Option 3a  

 

Do Intermediate:   

Develop on existing Ysgol Y Lawnt site only  

 

Option 3b Do Intermediate 

Develop on existing Upper Rhymney School site only 

Option 3c Do Intermediate 

Relocation of one/both schools into alternative existing school stock (if 
available) 

Option 4  

 

Do Major:  

Build two new Net Zero Carbon school buildings to accommodate each school 

respectively on the new site 

 

Page 34



9 
 

Option 5  

 

Do Maximum  

Build a single new Net Zero Carbon school building, with shared communal 
facilities, accommodating both schools on the new site 

 

 

Each option was evaluated against the investment objectives outlined in the Consultation 
Document and the extent to which it met the Critical Success Factors.  This stage was an 
important part of the process, to raise important questions at an early stage and assist in 

developing proposals.  

This resulted in options either being discounted, carried forward for further consideration in the 

short list with an eventual option identified as a preferred way forward.  It is the option identified 

as the preferred way forward upon which the consultation exercise was based as all other options 

have been discounted at this point. 

The process utilised was outlined in detail in the Consultation Document and resulted in  

Option 5 being identified as the preferred option, namely, Build a single new Net Zero Carbon 

school buildings, with shared communal facilities, accommodating both schools on the 

new site. 

 

 

Benefits and Disbenefits 

There are common challenges faced by all Local Authorities when adopting new proposals.   The 

vast majority of Council policies are delivered through projects and programmes of various forms. 

It is therefore vital that projects are delivered successfully in order to realise their intended 

benefits for citizens. 

Evidence shows that the best way to ensure successful delivery is by setting up projects correctly 

in the first place. The most common causes of failure, among others are a lack of clear objectives, 

insufficient resources and over-ambitious cost and schedule that impact on the level and amount 

of benefit that can be realised and can be avoided if tackled in a project’s early stages. 

As part of the development of the proposal, a number of benefits and disbenefits were identified 

as outlined in the Consultation Document.  The consultation process was an opportunity to 

consult with relevant stakeholders to understand what they see as positive outcomes and what 

negative consequences may be delivered. 

The Council recognises that people have different needs, requirements and goals and we will 

work actively against all forms of discrimination by promoting good relations and mutual respect 

within and between our communities.  An Integrated Impact Assessment was carried out to 

initiate discussion and invite comments as to whether the principles for the proposal are 

supported. 

All comments have been recorded and Cabinet members will be provided with copies of all the 

responses received within the consultation period and in their original format as part of the 
decision making process. 

 
 

  

Page 35



10 
 

  CONSULTATION PROCESS 

 

Consultation Process 

The consultation process has followed the Welsh Government guidelines as set out in the School 
Organisation Code 2018.   

 

Stakeholder Engagement 

Through TeamCaerphilly - Better Together, the Council is committed to ensuring high quality, 

citizen focused services for the communities that comprise our county borough.  In future -

proofing public services, we recognise the need to ensure effective engagement which is central 

to our decision making - Read more about our approach to Consultation and Engagement here 

For this proposal, our consultation process must follow the Welsh Government Statutory 

guidance as set out in the School Organisation Code 2018.   

The following consultees were advised of our proposals by letter or email: 

 

Table 2: Consultee List 
 

Pupils and Pupil Councils*  Welsh Ministers 
 

Parents, prospective parents, guardians and 

carers*  

Assembly Members and Members of 

Parliament representing the area served * 
 

Headteacher, Staff and Governing bodies* 
 

Local CCBC Members  
 

Directors of Education for Neighbouring 

Authorities 
 

Local Town and Community Councils 

 

Teaching  and Support Staff Associations 
 

Estyn 

Parent Network 
 

Welsh Education Forum 
 

Diocesan Directors / Boards of Education 
 

South East Wales Consortium (EAS) 
 

Gwent and South Wales Police and Crime 

Commissioners 
 

South East Wales Transport Alliance 

(SEWTA) 
 

Early Years Development and Childcare 

Partnership 
 

Mudiad Meithrin, Menter Iaith and  

voluntary nursery providers 
 

 

*of schools directly or likely to be affected by the proposal only 

In addition to advising those we were obliged to under the stakeholder criteria, the following were 

also contacted and advised of our proposals in writing: 

o All Headteachers in the Borough 

o Welsh Language Commissioner 

 

Page 36

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/tc-eng/
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Consultations/Consultation-and-Engagement-Framework.aspx


11 
 

Consultation Information 

The School Organisation Code 2018 states that when undertaking a consultation process in 

connection with a school proposal, the Council must publish information to enable transparent, 

balanced and open decision making.  

The consultation document must be published on a school day and consultees must be given at 

least 42 days to respond to the document, with at least 20 of these being school days as defined 

by Section 579 of the Education Act 1996.  The consultation period opened on Thursday 28th  

September 2023 (a school day) and concluded at midnight on Thursday 9th November 2023. 

As part of this proposal, the following documentation was produced: 

 Consultation Notification Letter 

 Consultation Document  

 Child Friendly Summary Presentation 

 Consultation Response Form 

 Integrated Impact Assessment 

All documentation was published in Welsh and English, complying with the requirements of the 

Welsh Language Standards.  Information was also available in other languages and formats on 

request, however, no such requests were received as part of this process. 

Hardcopies of the documentation were issued to the schools directly affected by the proposal 

including the child friendly summary for discussion with the pupils. 

In addition to notifying the consultees in writing of the proposal, distribution of information was  

supported via the school text messaging service direct to parents and staff. 

A child friendly consultation summary was also produced to support the consultation process 

with pupils of the affected schools to present information in a manner relevant to their likely 

understanding, allowing them to participate in the consultation process and reach an informed 

opinion.  In addition to this documentation, local teaching staff provided assistance to children 

and young people who wished to submit a consultation response in their preferred format and 

language. 

The Council’s Social media channels were also utilised.  

 

Response Methods  

As outlined in the Consultation Document, anyone wishing to comment in relation to the proposal 

could do so in writing by: 

o Completing the online response form on the Council’s website 

o Completing a response pro forma and posting it to the Sustainable Communities for 

Learning Team at Caerphilly 

o Emailing comments to the Sustainable Communities for Learning Team at Caerphilly 

Pupils of the schools directly affected by the proposal were also given the opportunity to engage 

in the process through focused ‘Pupil Voice’ sessions. 

The response forms were designed in such a way as to capture the relevant information required 

to discharge the Council’s obligations required under the School Organisation Code for 

undertaking a consultation linked to the regulated alteration of a maintained school. 

This consultation was undertaken to capture the views of consultees in relation to the proposal.  

These views have been incorporated into this document, which will be published and considered 

Page 37



12 
 

by Cabinet when determining whether to proceed to Statutory notice stage.  A separate Planning 

Application Process will be undertaken in respect of this proposal. The separate statutory 

processes were outlined in the consultation document and any adverse comments received as 

part of this process have been recorded as such. 

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES  

 

Consultation Responses 

Overall a total of 19 responses were received during the consultation process.   

Please note: The figure above and the data reported on for Questions 1 to 7 does not include 

the responses received by Estyn, Scrutiny or captured as part of any pupil engagement sessions. 

These are outlined in more detail later in this document. 

Of the prescribed methods for providing a response during the consultation period:  

 18 responses received via Online Survey 

 1 responses received via email 

 0 responses received via post  

1 response of the 19 (5%) was returned in the medium of Welsh. 

The Sustainable Communities for Learning Team received no requests for the documentation to 

be provided in any additional format or languages to those already available.   

 

QUESTION 1 

The consultees were provided an overview of the investment objectives for the Sustainable 

Communities for Learning Programme and asked to confirm the proposal they were responding 

to as part of the process.  

 

QUESTION 2 

The consultees were asked to identify a category that best described them in relation to the 

proposal for the school affected.  The options provided were selected to demonstrate that the 

key consultee groups as outlined in the School Organisation Code had been engaged with.  

These included, Parent, Staff Member, School Governor, Elected Member, Local Resident, 

Group and Other.  

Of those who responded, the following categories were selected: 

32% 
Parents 

11% 
Staff Members   

5% 
Elected 

Members 

32% 
Local Resident 

21% 
Other 

 

For those selecting ‘other’, the opportunity was given to elaborate further as they felt appropriate. 

 

QUESTIONS 3 TO 7 

As part of the consultation process, consultees were asked to provide basic contact information, 

including their name, address and email.  This psychographic data was collected in order to help 

Page 38



13 
 

paint a picture of the consultee and enable the Sustainable Communities for Learning team to 

understand trends in response data and response groupings that would assist in compiling this 

Consultation Report. 

As information can be collected for many purposes, the Caerphilly County Borough Council’s 

privacy notice for consultations/surveys was referenced, which outlined the purpose and legal 

basis for collecting the information, data usage and data retention periods. 

For the purposes of this Consultation Report, Cabinet will be provided with a separate digest of 

all the consultation comments received.  Please note that comments that are considered to be 

offensive or compromise anonymity have been edited or removed. 

 

QUESTION 8 

As part of our duty under the School Organisation Code 2018, consultees must be given the 

option to request  notification as to the publication of this Consultation Report.  Contact 

information has been collected to this end and the preferred method for communication will be 

notification via email if this information has been made available by the respondent. 

 17 out of the 21 respondents have requested notification.  These individuals have 

been added to the notification list and will be contacted concurrently with stakeholders when this 

document is made publicly available through the Council’s website.  Hardcopies of the 

documentation will be made available on request. 

 

QUESTION 9  

Consultees were asked to indicate “To what extent do you agree with the following statements?” 

Of those who responded: 

1) Ysgol Y Lawnt would benefit from a new school & facilities. 

13 agreed, 3 disagreed, 2 did not feel strongly either way 

 

2) Upper Rhymney Primary School would benefit from a new school & facilities. 

13 agreed, 3 disagreed, 2 did not feel strongly either way 

 

QUESTION 10 

Consultees can submit their views either in favour of or against the proposals. 

Consultees were asked to indicate which of the following statements most accurately reflected 

their views about the proposal.  Consultees were reminded to read the consultation 

documentation prior to providing any responses during this consultation exercise and that 

unfavourable comments made during the consultation period will not be treated as objections at 

this stage. 

 

The options available were: 

 I support the proposal 

 I do not feel strongly one way or the other 

 I do not support the proposal 

Page 39



14 
 

 

Of the 19 responses returned, 9 support the proposal, 7 do not support it, 2 either didn’t feel 

strongly either way or failed to select an option.  

 

 

 

 

47%

11%

37%

Overall Consultee Responses (%)

I support the proposal

I do not feel strongly one way
or the other

I do not support the proposal

Parent
34%

Group/Organisation
11%

Staff Member
11%

Elected Member
11%

Local Resident
22%

Other
11%

"I support the proposal"
47% of overall responses broken down by category

Page 40



15 
 

 

 

 

 

It is prudent to bring to the attention of readers that the commentary provided as part of Questions 

11 to 13 may offer additional insight into the views of the consultees and that the response 

provided to Question 10 should not be considered in isolation, for example where there are 

duplicate responses or multiple responses from a single household. 

 

QUESTIONS 11 to 13 

This was a free text box, enabling consultees to provide additional comments as to why they 

supported or did not support the proposal as outlined in the Consultation Document, or to 

suggest changes or alternative options that could improve the proposal. 

All comments received have been read and analysed.   

 

 

General themes that emerged from the consultation, including those raised at Scrutiny 

Committee: 

Parent
43%

Staff Member
14%

Local Resident
43%

"I do not support the proposal"
37% of overall responses broken down by category

Local Resident
50%

Other
50%

"I do not feel strongly one way or the other"
11% of overall responses broken down by category

Page 41



16 
 

 Proposed Location 

 School Design 

 Impact on Welsh Language 

 Funding 

 Project Timelines 

 

These themes are outlined in more detail in the section on ‘Consultation Clarification’ . 

 

QUESTIONS 14 to 19 

In line with the Caerphilly County Borough Council’s Strategic Equality Plan 2016-2020 and the 
Consultation and Monitoring Guidance 2016 document, a reduced version of the Equalities and 

Monitoring questionnaire was included as part of the consultation response to support effective 

planning and to ensure that a representative sample was achieved to identify any equality issues.  

From the responses received, of those that completed the Equalities monitoring section: 

I am … 

Female                                              14 Prefer to self describe                             0             

Male                                                   2 Prefer not to say                                         3 

 

Age 

Under 16                                             0 40-65                                                    7 

16-25                                                   2 Over 65                                                1 

26-39                                                   6 Prefer not to say                                     3 

 

Disability 

Yes                                                         3 No                                                          12 

Prefer not to say                                     4 

 

Preferred Language 

English                                                    14 Other                                                        0 

Welsh                                                       2 Prefer not to say                                          3 

 

QUESTIONS 20 to 21 

We have to make sure that the Welsh Language is treated in the same way as the English 

language.  

Respondents were given the opportunity to make suggestions on how we can increase 

opportunities for people to use or access services in Welsh.   In addition, respondents were able 

to comment on how the proposal could be changed to have (more of) a positive impact on the 

Welsh language. 

 

Responses included: 

 Provision of additional funding to Welsh Schools only 

 Amend the proposal to a standalone Welsh Language School only 

Page 42



17 
 

 Welsh Language Courses  

 Working with Welsh Language Organisations 

 

QUESTION 22 

In relation to equalities implications that respondents highlighted, 1 respondent indicated that 

their decision was influenced based on a family member, but none indicated implications as per 

the list outlined in the consultation response form. 

 

Scrutiny Response 

The Council’s Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee is a consultee for any policy 

or service developments in relation to Education within the Borough.  

A Multi-Locational meeting (Penallta House & MS Teams) took place on Tuesday 17th October 

2023 at 5.30pm.  

As part of this meeting, the Sustainable Communities for Learning Band B Programme and 

consultation in respect of the proposal for Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper Rhymney Primary School 

was discussed as agenda item 7.   

All consultation documentation was made available to members as part of the agenda reports 

pack and officers linked to the proposal were available to take questions. Any queries raised 

have been acknowledged and included as part of the themes analysis. 

A recording of the session is available to view:   

Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee Meeting  

 

Estyn’s Response 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and the School 

Organisation Code 2018, the Council, as the proposers, is required to send a notification with 

regards to the consultation to Estyn. 

Estyn is the education and training inspectorate for Wales and their vision is to improve the 

quality of education and training and outcomes for all learners in Wales.  However, Estyn is not 

a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory 

requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters.  Therefore, as a body being 

consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation 

proposals.  

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal.  The full response from Estyn in 

included as Annex 2 at the end of this document.  However, in summary: 

“Estyn considers that the proposal is likely to, at least, maintain the standard of education 

provision in the area.” 

The Council acknowledges Estyn’s response. 

 LEARNER VOICE 

 

Young people have a right to act to express their views in all matters affecting them and for their 

views to be heard and given due weight in accordance with their age and maturity.  

 

Page 43

https://civico.net/caerphilly/18099-Education-and-Social-Services-Scrutiny-Committee


18 
 

 

School Council / Pupil Engagement 

The Council acknowledged that the voice of young people is about involving them as active 

participants in the development, delivery, management and improvement of their educational 

and student experience and needs to be at the heart of planning, provision and evaluation.  

The Sustainable Communities for Learning Team in Caerphilly ensure that when bringing 

forward any proposal, suitable arrangements are made to consult and involve pupils throughout 
the process with the support of the local teaching teams. 

A child friendly consultation summary was produced to support the consultation process with 

pupils to present information in a manner relevant to their likely understanding, allowing them to 

participate in the consultation process and reach an informed opinion.   

 

 Schools directly affected by the proposal 

The proposal directly impacts on pupils at Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper Rhymney Primary School.  

The School Councils, Eco Councils and wider pupil cohorts were encouraged to participate in 

the consultation process through a series of supported interactive sessions. 

The pupils were asked: 

 Do they agree with what we are looking to do?  

 Did they have any ideas of what they would want in a new school? 

 Did they  have any other ideas they’d like us to think about? 

 

A selection of their responses is shown below: 

Ysgol Y Lawnt: 

 

 

Page 44



19 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

              Images from a Consultation Sessions undertaken with pupils at Ysgol Y Lawnt 

 

 

 

 

Upper Rhymney Primary School: 

Page 45



20 
 

“We like the proposal; we want to keep our teachers; We like the new location; We would 

be happy to work with children from another school; I think the new school looks spacious; 

its only down the road; it would be nice as all of us will be in one building and not separate 

from infants” – Student Council 

 

  

             Images from a Consultation Sessions undertaken with Student Council at Upper Rhymney Primary School 

 

Other Schools identified as being affected 

The Head Teachers of other local schools in the area were contacted during the consultation 

period whereby the schools were invited to provide their responses as part of the consultation 

process.  Where information has been submitted, responses are included as part of the separate 

annex available to Cabinet. 

 

 

 

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

 

Page 46



21 
 

Consultation Clarification 

When analysing all consultation response comments received as part of the consultation period, 
a number of emerging themes became evident.   

 

Table 3: Summary of Response Themes 

 

Theme Overview  Number of 
Mentions 

Proposed Location Travel Distance 4 

Site Safety & Security 2 

Site Access & Traffic 4 

School Design Concept Artwork 3 

Facilities 4 

Site Orientation 1 

Impact on Welsh 
Language 
 

Welsh and English Schools (precedents) 2 

Independent School Functions 3 

Site Operations 1 

Community Cohesion 1 

Funding School Funding Formula 2 

Project Funding and Cost 1 

Project Timelines Process Timeline 1 

Proposed Occupation Date 1 

 

To assist Cabinet in the decision making process, the following information is provided by Council 

Officers involved in the formulation of the proposal by means of response for clarification with 

supporting reasons. 

 

 

 

 

Proposed Location 

 Travel Distance 

Page 47



22 
 

A selection of consultees raised concerns with regards to the impact of the new location on those 

that currently walk to school, in addition, a concern was noted regarding taking Ysgol Y Lawnt 
out of the centre of Rhymney Town and its perceived catchment area.  The distance between 

both schools and the proposed new build site is less than 1 mile at its maximum.  As outlined in 
the Consultation Document, it is anticipated that the likely effect of different travelling 
arrangements as a result of the proposal will be minimal, although it is acknowledged that some 

pupils may find themselves living closer to the new site and conversely others finding themselves 
further away although the difference between the sites is minimal.   

 
It should be noted that the catchment areas of both schools is wider than just the Rhymney Town 
area, especially in reference to Ysgol Y Lawnt, which accommodates catchment pupils from as 

South as New Tredegar to the most Northern Boarder of the Authority.  As such Caerphilly 
complies with the requirements of the Learner Travel Measure (Wales) 2008 through providing 

transport for pupils of statutory school age in accordance with our individual transport policy. 
Caerphilly’s transport policy is more generous than the legislative requirement by providing 
transport to the ‘relevant’ school (i.e. catchment or nearest school) of more than a distance of 

1.5 miles primary.  This is applicable for both Welsh and English medium schools. 
 

 Site Safety & Security 

Consultees raised concerns regarding site security e.g. fencing, allotment and forest areas.  
For clarity, whilst no formal design process has been undertaken to date, as a minimum, a 

thorough risk assessment of the school site, taking account of site security, any public rights of 
way, traffic management arrangements and the condition of all buildings will assist the Local 

Authority and Schools to make appropriate arrangements to manage those risks appropriately 
and ensure relevant external and internal measures are put into place, for example perimeter 
fencing, locking mechanisms, security lighting, signing in processes etc. 

When in operation, it is the responsibility of the headteacher and governing body to ensure that 
the school site and its building(s) are safe. These arrangements will vary from school to school 
depending on the nature of the site and the age of the pupils on roll.  

 

 Site Access & Traffic 

A handful of consultees expressed concerns around the site location, road network and potential 

impact on traffic management and flow in the proposed area.  It is always the intention of the 

Council to provide a system of transport that seeks to ensure pupils can safely and comfortably 

access their education.  

A number of ‘Safe Travel’ routes, as far as reasonably practicable, are already established such 

as lighting and designated footpaths.  During an initial site visit by the Sustainable Communities 

for Learning team, it has been identified that the access road, parking and designated bus/taxi 

turning points could potentially be improved, especially for Ysgol Y Lawnt, as part of the new site 

design process to alleviate any local traffic concerns and this will be taken into consideration at 

the relevant stages as the proposal progresses. 

 

 

School Design 

 Concept Artwork 

Page 48



23 
 

As part of the consultation responses, queries were raised in relation to the configuration and 

layout of the school as shown in the diagrams provided in the Consultation Document.  It should 

be emphasised that the images were only concept designs and no formal design process has 

been undertaken as the consultation process is intended to gain the views of stakeholders which 

will inform the proposal and any subsequent plans moving forward. 

 

 Facilities 

Queries were raised in relation to the type of facilities that would be available from the new site, 

for example, childcare, wraparound services and Additional Learning Needs (ALN) provision.  As 

part of the consultation process, the Council indicated an intention to utilise the identified site to 

provide the following facilities: 

 Primary school facilities to accommodate both Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper 
Rhymney Primary School 

 Childcare  

 Special Resource Base provision for each school, one with 8 places for Welsh 
medium and the other providing 8 places for English medium. 

 Safe ‘zoning’ which can be utilised by the wider community. 

 
It should once again be noted that there are no formal designs in place and how these can be 

delivered is still subject to review, based on stakeholder feedback. 

 

 Site Orientation 

A selection of consultees raised concerns regarding the layout and orientation of the school and 

how access to external amenities would be fairly distributed between both schools, in addition 

there were also comments regarding the potential for 2 individual school buildings on the site.  

Whilst no formal designs have been developed and as outlined above, the images used in the 

Consultation Document were conceptual artwork only at this stage, it is the intention of the 

Council to ensure that any development would ensure that both schools would benefit from not 

only an aesthetic and practical perspective but also from the benefits which providing a Net Zero 

build can bring to the environment and energy costings. 

 

Impact on Welsh Language 

 Welsh and English Schools (precedents) 

Concerns were raised by consultees and noted during the Scrutiny Committee meeting 
regarding the perceived impact on the Welsh Language and the potential for dilution resulting 

from siting a Welsh Medium and English Medium School together.  As outlined in the 
Consultation Document and associated Integrated Impact Assessment, consideration has been 
made to potential concerns where the Welsh speaking community may utilise English when 

they all come together.   

1) It must be emphasised that both schools would remain independent entities and each 
school would occupy their own separate teaching areas within the new building. This will 

also extend to the outside space and both sets of pupils would have their own 
independent access points. 

 

Page 49



24 
 

2) Any proposed shared use facilities are still subject to design, and the Council will work 

closely with both schools to develop a fit for purpose approach which delivers a facility that 
is functional for curriculum delivery and wider community use.  For example, as a result of 

a delegation of School representatives, Members and Officers visiting Gabalfa Primary 
School and Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal in Cardiff, which is operating in a similar manner 
to that currently being proposed, the schools were clearly established and operating 

independently and there was no negative impact on the use of language in either school. 
It was acknowledged through discussions with both Head Teachers in Cardiff, that there 

were lessons to be learned from a layout perspective, for example how the shared 
reception point for visitors had two independent receptionists in operation, one for the 
Welsh Medium School and one for the English Medium School and this has been noted by 

Officers.  
 

3) In addition to the reference site in Cardiff mentioned in the Consultation Document, there 
is already existing precedent within Caerphilly whereby Ysgol Bro Allta and Ystrad 
Mynach Primary, one being Welsh medium, the other English medium, successfully 

operate from a share site, as highlighted in the Scrutiny Committee meeting. 
 

4) As identified as part of the Integrated Impact Assessment undertaken for the proposal, 
which was published as part of the Consultation pack, the Council intends to mitigate any 
negative impact on the Welsh Language as far as reasonably possible through utilising 
this site as an architype in fully exploiting the opportunity to make Upper Rhymney 

Primary School and exemplar school whereby it will use the Welsh language more, via the 
Cymraeg i Blant scheme, engagement in Welsh for the Family course, potential twinning 

of the schools whereby cultures of the schools can be shared and the possibility of a 
Welsh Language mentoring scheme whereby Upper Rhymney Primary School Pupils are 
mentored for Welsh lessons by their peers from Ysgol Y Lawnt.  Consideration will also be 

given to setting targets in line with the Welsh Language Education: White Paper to 
enhance Welsh language provision in maintained schools that are not already designated 

Welsh-medium schools.  Further discussions and support with both schools will be 
undertaken as the proposal progresses to investigate the options available to support this 
aspiration. 

 Independent School Functions 

Comments were received regarding the importance of establishing sufficient practical 

arrangements to enable each school to operate independently and in their language medium of 
choice.  Once again, it must be emphasised that both schools would remain independent 

entities and each school would occupy their own separate teaching areas within the new 
building. This will also extend to the outside space and both sets of pupils would have their 
own independent access points. 

 
The new building will incorporate both primary schools with associated facilities as well as 

childcare and separate Special Resource Base which provides provision for pupils with 
additional learning needs in each school, one with 8 places for Welsh medium and the other 
providing 8 places for English medium. 

 
 
 
 

 Site Operations 

Page 50



25 
 

Further to the comments received relating to independent school functions, observations were 

also received in relation to how a joint site would operate and the need for parity of decision 
making between both schools.  Each school will retain their existing Head Teacher and 

Governing Body arrangements, however, a joint committee will be established consisting of 
representatives from both schools to establish terms and conditions about the working 
mechanisms relating to maintenance, access and general policies relating the site as a whole.  
 

 Community Cohesion 

Views were received relating to the impact on the Welsh Language through co-location and how 

this could be promoted in the wider community. As part of the Sustainable Communities for 
Learning Programme, a key Investment Objective is to optimise the use of infrastructure and 
resources, and to ensure flexibility of our assets so that space and facilities available for our 

stakeholders are maximised.   
 

Whilst no final designs have been determined, there is a desire to encourage and facilitate 
community use of the asset in a safe, manageable way, which are intended to provide 
opportunities for pupils, families and the wider community for educational, recreational and leisure 

activities.  Any design / configuration of shared communal facilities will ensure that any 
infringement on the Welsh Language as a result of these activities can be limited as required and 

therefore support each school to deliver activities either independently or concurrently if required 
and through each schools preferred language choice. It is anticipated that through both schools 
occupying the same site, it will also enable greater exposure and opportunity to utilise the Welsh 

Language through supporting the aspirations of the Welsh Language Education White Paper in 
relation to Upper Rhymney Primary School. 
 
Subject to approval from Cabinet and Welsh Government to proceed, further engagement with 
relevant stakeholders will be undertaken to shape the new build and its facilities at the 

appropriate planning stage. 
 

Funding 

 School Funding Formula 

A scrutiny member queried the funding arrangements for both schools.  The Local Authority uses 

a funding formula to determine how much money should be allocated to each school. As part of 

this proposal, the current allocation to each school would not be changed as to do so requires 

Cabinet approval which falls outside of the scope of this consultation process. 

In addition, as part of the consultation responses a query was raised with regards to any savings 

achieved as a result of the proposal.  As the current proposal is centered around a shared use 

Net Zero Carbon building, each school would directly benefit from any savings on energy bills 

compared to their current sites as a result. 

 

 Project Funding and Cost 

To provide additional clarity around the funding mechanisms for the proposal.  Subject to Cabinet 

approval, the proposal will be funded as part of the Sustainable Communities for Learning 

Programme.  This is a jointly funded initiative between the Local Authority and Welsh 

Government.  As with all schemes identified under this programme, there is a general 

intervention rate of 65% Welsh Government and 35% Local Authority, where exceptions do not 

apply.  The estimated proposed project cost for the relocation of Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper 

Rhymney Primary, totals circa £17.6 million.  Costings are based on Building Bulletin 98 and the 

Page 51



26 
 

Welsh Government 2024 Cost allowance.  Subject to approval to proceed, further verification 

will need to be undertaken by the Council’s Quantity Surveyor prior to submission of the final 

cost to Welsh Government.  The Authority’s contribution will be set aside from the Authority’s 

Place Shaping reserve as agreed in principle by Cabinet during their meeting on the 28th June 

2023, when they agreed to proceed to consultation.  
 

Project Timelines  

Both Estyn and Scrutiny queried the timeline for the process and the anticipated completion date. 

 Process Timeline 

Subject to approval at each stage, the process is outlined as follows: 

Table 4: Process Timeline (subject to approval to progress at each stage) 

Consultation Ends Thursday 9th November 2023 

Scrutiny (to consider Consultation Report & endorse 

publication of Statutory Notice) 

Tuesday 28th November 2023 

Cabinet (to consider Consultation Report & agree 

publication of Statutory Notice) 

Wednesday 13th December 2023 

Statutory Notice / Objection Period Opens  Monday 8th January 2024 

Statutory Notice / Objection Period End Monday 5th February 2024 

Scrutiny (to consider Objection Report) Tuesday 12th March 2024 

Cabinet  (to make final determination) Wednesday 20th March 2024 

 

Subject to final determination to proceed, the process would then be subject to the Planning 

Application and Sustainable Drainage approval process which is led by the Council’s 

experienced Property Services Team.   

In addition an Outline Business Case will be submitted to Welsh Government at the appropriate 

design/tender stage in line with their recently revised 3 stage Business Case process. 

 

 Proposed Occupation Date 

Subject to approval at each stage outlined above, the current anticipated occupation date is 

September 2027. 

 

Reasonable Alternatives Identified 

Following the consultation period, the Council is required to carry out a further assessment for 

the proposal. The purpose of this further assessment is to take account of any further information 

that has come forward through the consultation or otherwise.  

As outlined in the Consultation Document, the proposal under consideration is to create a 

sustainable Net Zero Carbon school buildings with shared facilities, to accommodate Ysgol Y 

Lawnt, Upper Rhymney Primary School and Community use.  This was the preferred option as 

Page 52



27 
 

identified through the options appraisal process and scored against the critical success factors 

of Strategic fit, Educational fit, Accessibility, Financial fit and Environmental impact.  

Through the consultation process and the comments returned, the Council acknowledges 

suggestions relating to redeveloping the existing Ysgol Y Lawnt site; providing 2 separate 

buildings on the proposed site and also the potential to accommodate Upper Rhymney Primary 

School with another English Medium school on the new site, namely Bryn Awel Primary School 

and relocate Ysgol Y Lawnt to the vacant premises.  It should be noted that all these suggestions 

were considered and discounted at Options appraisal stage. Therefore, no reasonable 

alternatives have been highlighted as a result of the Consultation Process. 

 

NEXT STEPS 
 

Recommendation 

In reviewing the proposal to take account of further information that has come forward 

through the consultation and in consideration of the likely impact on quality and standards 

in education, the community and travelling arrangements, it is the recommendation of this 

report that the proposal is progressed as outlined in the Consultation Document, namely: 

 

o Relocation of Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper Rhymney Primary School 
 
The proposal seeks to create a sustainable Net Zero Carbon school buildings with shared 

facilities, to accommodate Ysgol Y Lawnt, Upper Rhymney Primary School and 
Community use.   

 

Decision Making 

To deliver our reforms across the entire system, we will need a bold commitment to effective 

collaboration along with integration of services where appropriate. This will include Welsh 

Government, the teaching profession and the wider education workforce, our key partners in 

local authorities, diocesan authorities, regional services, Estyn and others. Successful 

implementation of any proposal will require effective and honest engagement between all facets 

of the education system and our local communities and we are committed to providing the 

conditions to enable this to happen.  

Cabinet Members are asked to: 

a) Consider the information contained in the Consultation Report 

b) Approve the recommendation, via vote, to proceed to Statutory Notice in relation to 

the proposal for Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper Rhymney Primary School 

 
 

Reporting, Notification and Publishing of Information 

Should Cabinet decide to proceed with the proposal, a Statutory Notice will be published 

providing a 28 day notice period for objections.  The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) 

Act 2013 provides that anyone wishing to make objections to a school organisation proposal has 

the opportunity to do so.  To be considered as statutory objections, objections must be made in 

writing and sent to the Council within the 28-day period. 

Page 53



28 
 

Cabinet will then consider the outcome of the Statutory Notice at a future meeting and determine 

whether to implement the proposal having given due consideration to all the information 

provided. 

In the event of objections, the Council will publish an objection report providing a summary of the 

objections and Cabinet’s response to those objections within 7 days or the day of the 

determination of the proposal.  This report will be available for all persons to view on the Council 

website and paper copies will be available on request. 

Should Cabinet approve the proposal, a full Business Case will be submitted to the Welsh 

Minister for final approval and the works will commence. 

 

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

Annex 1 : 

Consultation Notification Letter 

Consultation Document 

Integrated Impact Assessment 

 

Annex 2:  

Estyn’s Full Response 

This report has been prepared by His Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and Training in 
Wales. 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its associated 

Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. However, Estyn is not a 
body which is required to act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory 
requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being 

consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation 
proposals. Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 

following response to the information provided by the proposer. 

The proposal is to carry out a regulated alteration to relocate Ysgol Y Lawnt and Upper Rhymney 
Primary School to a shared dual-purpose building on a new site.  

The two schools will continue to provide Welsh and English medium primary education and 

remain as separate entities. 

Summary/ Conclusion 

Estyn considers that the proposal is likely to, at least, maintain the standard of education 
provision in the area. 

Description and benefits 

The local authority has set out a clear rationale for its proposal. It outlines simply the advantages 

of building a new joint facility while identifying the relatively poor condition rating of the two 
existing school buildings. Neither of the current school buildings is fully DDA compatible and the 
local authority identifies that both have a backlog of maintenance. However, neither school’s 

Page 54

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/consultations/ysgol-y-lawnt-and-upper-rhymney-primary/notification-letter
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/consultations/ysgol-y-lawnt-and-upper-rhymney-primary/notification-letter
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/consultation-document-yyl-urp-eng.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/consultation-document-yyl-urp-eng.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/iia-yyl-urp-eng.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/iia-yyl-urp-eng.aspx


29 
 

buildings are at the lowest condition level and the proposal does not identify the scope or cost 

of necessary maintenance work.  

The main school building of Ysgol Y Lawnt is Grade II Listed and subject to development 
restrictions. The site also has limited outdoor play areas. Upper Rhymney Primary is on two 

levels and currently has no lift. The proposal is to create a large, energy efficient building on a 
new site with modern classrooms, enhanced outdoor facilities and flexible spaces for shared and 
communal use.  

While the local authority provides a clear description of the proposal and a projected timetable 

for statutory procedures, it does not provide a timetable for implementation of the proposals or 
for the transfer to the new site. 

In the main, the proposer identifies clearly and fairly the expected benefits and disadvantages 

when compared with the status quo and how they will manage any risk. The local authority has 
provided a Welsh language Impact Assessment and a Community Impact Assessment as part 

of its proposal.  

The local authority sets out four possible alternatives to its proposal. It provides suitable reasons 
for rejecting the option of building two new school buildings on the same site. However, it does 
not identify specifically why the possibility of developing either school independently on its 

existing site has been discounted, other than by stating the view that limitations on both sites 
make this alternative poor value for money and high risk. 

The proposer has considered, in part, the impact of the changes on learner travel arrangements. 

It notes rightly that travel times for ‘a minority’ of pupils may change as a result of the proposed 
school’s new location, but does not consider how many pupils, nor detail how the local authority 
will deal with this issue. The local authority does point out that it considers the difference in time 

taken to travel to the new school site will be negligible as it is in relatively close proximity to both 
existing schools. 

The proposal projects a modest growth in pupil numbers at both schools over the next few years, 

with the need for around 193 Welsh medium pupil places and 157 English medium pupil places 
by 2026. At the same time, the new build would cater for 525 pupils, plus a nursery and 16 
special resource base places. The proposer does not explore the reason for surplus spaces 

thoroughly, other than identifying that a new innovative build may stimulate demand and that 
possible surplus places in the English medium provision could be managed sustainably by 

balancing the need to increase places in the Welsh medium school. 

The proposal takes clear account of the impact of the proposals on Welsh medium provision 
within the local authority and the extent to which the proposal supports the targets in the local 

authority’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP). The proposal to transfer Ysgol Y Lawnt 
to a new 21st century standard school building with an increased capacity will contribute to the 
authority’s aim of increasing the number of pupils accessing Welsh medium education and 

expand the opportunities for pupils to pursue an education through the medium of Welsh. The 
proposal gives due consideration to the possible negative impact on pupil numbers in 

neighbouring Welsh medium schools. In mitigation, the local authority has outlined the possibility 
of minimising this through a managed and phased capacity increase of the new Welsh medium 
provision. 

The proposal identifies that the local authority has set aside a reserve for capital costs as part of 

the Sustainable Communities for Learning Band B Programme. The proposal does not provide 
an estimate for the cost of the new build or details of any potential savings. 

Educational aspects of the proposal 

The local authority does not give thorough consideration in its proposal to the impact of the 

changes on the quality and standards in education. For example, while it signposts the most 

Page 55



30 
 

recent inspection reports for both schools it does not identify directly whether the proposed 

change would assist the schools in addressing any of the identified recommendations.  

The proposal does outline the benefit of the enhanced outdoor areas planned for the new site. 
For example, it highlights the provision of a MUGA with 3G surface and of a forest school and 

allotments for pupils’ use. It assumes fairly that pupil attitudes and well-being would likely be 
impacted positively by the increased opportunity to engage in outdoor learning and physical play 
using these resources. The proposal also indicates that flexible use of the space may benefit 

pupils by enabling worthwhile opportunities for partnership working between the two schools and 
with community partners. For example, the proposal considers the potential positive impact on 

pupil, staff and community use of the Welsh language through the sharing of expertise between 
the two schools and common access to the bilingual reception area and communal facilities. 
However, the proposal does not give appropriate consideration to any potential adverse impacts 

arising from two schools sharing the same site, such as competition over the use of shared 
spaces or other limiting factors at an operational level that may compromise their independent 

function.  

The proposal considers, in part, the impact on vulnerable groups, in particular those pupils with 
Special Educational Needs who are likely to benefit from the provision of two separate learning 
resources bases with eight pupil places in each language medium. In terms of accessibility, the 

new building will be fully accessible and compliant with the Equality’s Act 2010.  

The local authority rightly identifies that the proposed changes would result in some disruption 
and adjustment for pupils, staff and the wider community. The proposal seeks to maintain 

continuity for each of the schools by retaining the current leadership and governance 
arrangements for both schools and by engaging community partners in plans to transfer existing 
aspects of community use. Given that the proposal is to build on a new site, there should be no 

detrimental impact on the experience of pupils in either school during the construction phase. 

 

 

Report prepared by: 

Sustainable Communities for Learning Team 

Directorate of Education and Corporate Services 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Penallta House 

Tredomen Park 
Ystrad Mynach 

CF82 7PG 
 
21stCenturySchools@caerphi lly.gov.uk 

 

Page 56

mailto:21stCenturySchools@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
 
 

EDUCATION AND SOCIAL SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
28TH NOVEMBER 2023 

 
 

SUBJECT: SCHOOL ORGANISATION CODE 2018 - CONSULTATION 
REPORT: PROPOSAL FOR THE CLOSURE OF CWM GLAS 
INFANT SCHOOL  

 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES 
 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to update Scrutiny Members in relation to the proposal in 
respect of the closure of Cwm Glas Infant School by July 2024. 

 
1.2 Members are asked to consider the information contained in the Consultation Report 

and endorse the recommendations to Cabinet, via vote, to proceed to Statutory 
Notice. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY 

 
2.1 Due to the falling rolls at Cwm Glas Infant school which are projected to decrease 

further in future years, a meeting was arranged by the Head Teacher and the 
Governing body with Local Authority representatives including the Chief Education 
Officer, to discuss the future viability of the school. 

 
2.2 The conclusion of the meeting as outlined in 2.1, agreed the school could no longer 

maintain a balanced budget and an appropriate staffing level, therefore a decision 
was made by the Head Teacher and Governing Body of the School to pursue closure 
of Cwm Glas Infant School with effect from July 2024. 

 
2.3 The proposal in respect of the closure of Cwm Glas Infant School by July 2024. 
 went to formal consultation between the 28th September 2023 and the 9th November 

2023. 
 

2.4  To discharge the Council’s duty under the School Organisation Code 2018, there is 
now a requirement for Cabinet members to give due regard to the content of the 
Consultation Report and determine whether or not it is appropriate to move to the 
next stage in the process.  

 

Page 57

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 8



2.5 A Consultation Report has been compiled and attached as an annex to this report.   
The Consultation Report summarises each of the issues raised by consultees.  Any 
emerging themes that have been raised through gathering the views of consultees 
during the consultation process have been responded to by means of clarification 
with supporting reasons.   

 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1.1 Prior to a report being presented to Cabinet, Scrutiny Members are asked to: - 
 

a) Consider the information contained in the Consultation Report 
b) Endorse the recommendation to Cabinet, via vote, to proceed to Statutory Notice 

in relation to the proposal to close Cwm Glas Infant Schol by July 2024 

 

 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
4.1 To seek Members endorsement on the recommendations to Cabinet, via vote, to 

proceed to the publication of a Statutory Notice in respect of the proposal. 
 
4.2 Assist the Council in discharging its duties in line with the requirements of the Welsh 

Government’s School Organisation Code 2018. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 

 
Cwm Glas Infants School 

 
5.1 Cwm Glas Infants School provides education to pupils between the ages of 3 and 

and has a published capacity figure of 57 places with a published admission number 
of 19.   

 
5.2 The current pupil roll is 33 pupils (Full Time Equivalent) with over 50% of these pupils 

residing outside of the catchment area of the school. 
 
5.3 Surplus places are currently at 47.37% rising to 56.14% in September 2024 and 

projected to increase in future years as the number of pupils predicted to attend the 
school is anticipated to decline linked to a reduction in live birth rates in the area and 
parental preference.   

 
5.4 The projected pupil numbers and resultant financial outlook for the school provides a 

significant challenge to the ability of the Head and School Governors to agree a 
balanced budget to maintain the school and an appropriate staffing level which has 

led to a request to the local authority to consider closing the school from July 2024. 
 
5.5 Under the School Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010, Individual school budgets are 

determined using a locally agreed funding formula in accordance with factors which 
are learner led.  Schools must be able to demonstrate via a financial action plan that 
the school will work to deliver a balanced budget.  However, the Head Teacher and 
Governing Body have acknowledged that Cwm Glas School is facing a significant 
financial deficit with pupil numbers projected to further decrease moving forward. 

 
5.6 Reasonable alternatives to closure, such as reduction in the number of classes, 

collaboration, federation and colocation were considered by the Head Teacher and 

Page 58



Governing Body in partnership with the Local Authority but deemed not viable or 
sustainable.  

 
5.7 Cwm Glas Infants School is a feeder school for Coed Y Brain Primary at Key Stage 

2.  Both schools share the same catchment area and are both located in Llanbradach 
within circa 1 mile of each other.  Should the decision be taken to close Cwm Glas 
Infants School, based on current and future projections for both schools, all pupils 
could be accommodated within Coed Y Brain Primary School, subject to parental 
preference. 

 
5.8 Further to Cabinet approval gained on 28th June 2023, formal consultation for the 

proposal was carried out between the 28th September 2023 and the 9th November 
2023. 

 
5.9 A prescribed list of recipients as outlined in the School Organisation Code 2018 were 

written to and a consultation document was published in Welsh and English, both in 
hardcopy and electronically via the Authority’s website based.  Reasonable access to 
information was promoted from an Equalities perspective and other formats were 
available, including a child friendly version. 

 
5.10 Members of the Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee who met on the 

17th October 2023 in their capacity as a consultee under the School Organisation 
Code 2018, had the opportunity to consider the information contained in the 
consultation pack and provide their views which have been noted as part of the 
minutes of the meeting and summarised in the Consultation Report. 

 
5.11 The consultation period ran for 42 days (with at least 20 of these being school days) 

to provide adequate time for response and conscientious consideration has been 
given to any responses received.   

 
5.12 There were 21 responses received in respect of the proposal as outlined in 1.1.  In 

addition, a number of pupils from the school were engaged in the consultation 
process through ‘learner voice’ sessions which have been reported on separately.  
These are broken down into more detail in the Consultation Report. 

 
5.13 A Consultation Report has been compiled and has been attached as an annex to this 

report.   The Consultation Report summarises each of the issues raised by 
consultees.  Any emerging themes that have been raised through gathering the 
views of consultees during the consultation process have been responded to by 
means of clarification with supporting reasons.  In addition, Estyn has provided a 
formal response in consideration of the educational aspects of the proposal which is 
included in the Consultation Report. 

 
5.14   The Consultation Report will be published electronically on the Sustainable 

Communities for Learning pages on the Council’s website.   
 
5.15 Consultees who have indicated in their consultation response that they wish to be 

notified will be advised by letter or email of the availability of the Consultation Report 
along with the key stakeholders identified in the School Organisation Code 2018.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



 
5.2 Conclusion   

Pursuant to the requirements of the School Organisation Code 2018, formal 
consultation has now concluded in relation to this proposal and this report has been 
compiled along with the Consultation Report to provide members with the necessary 
information to make an informed decision as to whether to progress the proposal to 
the next statutory stage which would entail permission to publish a Statutory Notice. 
The School Standards & Organisation (Wales) Act 2013, provides that anyone 
wishing to make objections to a school organisation proposal has the opportunity to 
do so at this stage. An Objection Report will then be brought before Cabinet in 
addition to an updated Integrated Impact Assessment, and at this point, a final 
determination regarding the proposal will be requested. 

 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 No assumptions have been made in relation to this report as it merely updates on the 
progress of individual projects.  

 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT   

 
7.1  A full Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) has been completed in relation to the proposal 

to ensure compliance with the socio-economic duty, Sections 1 to 3 of Equality Act 2010.  
 

Link to IIA (English) 
 
 

7.2 Subject to Cabinet approval to progress to Statutory Notice, the IIA will be further 
reviewed and updated after this stage.  The purpose of this further assessment is to take 
account of any further information that has come forward through the consultation stages 
or otherwise, to further support conscientious consideration prior to final determination. 

 

 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

  
8.1 Under the School Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010, Individual school budgets are 

determined using a locally agreed funding formula in accordance with factors which 
are learner led.  

 
8.2 Schools must be able to demonstrate via a financial action plan that the school will 

work to deliver a balanced budget.   
 
8.3 The Council’s Education Finance Team have been working closely with the school 

for a number of years, however, the Head Teacher and Governing Body have 
acknowledged that Cwm Glas School is facing a significant financial deficit with pupil 
numbers projected to further decrease moving forward and are unable to 
demonstrate via a financial action plan their ability to reverse the deficit. 

 
  
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 This will be dependent on specific proposals and will be considered as part of the 

consultation process. 

Page 60

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-scurinty-report-cwm-glas-infants-2023
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-scurinty-report-cwm-glas-infants-2023


 
9.2 The Council’s Human Resources Team will work closely with all relevant parties to 

ensure that processes are adhered to, and support is provided as required. 
 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 The draft report was distributed as detailed below. All comments received have been 

reflected in this version of the report. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  

 
11.1 School Organisation Code 2018 (Welsh Government)  

School Standards & Organisation (Wales) Act 2013  
 
 
Author:   Andrea West, Sustainable Communities for Learning Manager 
  
Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive  

Dave Street, Deputy Chief Executive 
Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director of Education and Corporate Services  
Mark S Williams, Corporate Director for Economy and Environment 
Councillor Carol Andrews, Cabinet Member for Education and Communities  
Councillor Teresa Parry, Chair, Education & Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee 
Councillor Brenda Miles, Vice Chair Education & Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee 
Sue Richards, Head of Transformation 
Steve Harris, Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer 

 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer 
Sarah Ellis, Lead for Inclusion & ALN  
Sarah Mutch, Early Years Manager 
Paul Warren, Strategic Lead for School Improvement 
Jane Southcombe, Financial Services Manager 
Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 
Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Service and Monitoring Officer 

 Ben Winstanley, Head of Land and Property Services 
  Steve Pugh, Corporate Communications Manager 
 
Appendices: 
 
Link to Consultation Report – Cwm Glas Infant School (English) 
 

Page 61

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/consultation-document-yyl-urp-eng.aspx


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 62



Consultation Report 
   
 

Proposal to Close Cwm Glas Infant School 

 

  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposal :  Currently the pupils at Cwm Glas Infant School transition to Coed Y Brain Primary 

School at Key Stage 2. The proposal seeks to transition the pupils at Foundation 

Phase, to deliver inclusive all-through primary school provision from September 

2024.  

This will result in the closure of Cwm Glas Infant School. 

 
Formal Consultation Period : 28th September 2023 – 9th November 2023 

 

This report is published in line with the requirements of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 

2013 and the School Organisation Code 2018. 
 

           
 

Page 63



2 
 

 

This document is available in Welsh and English. Information can also be made available in other 

formats, languages and in hard copy on request. Please contact us on 01443 864817 to arrange 

this. 

 

 

SPE 

Introduction 

 Executive Summary  
 Statutory Obligations 

 Purpose of the Consultation Report  
 

 

 

Proposal 

 What are we proposing to do? 
 What is driving this proposal? 
 Options Appraisal  
 Benefits and Disbenefits 

 

 

 

The Consultation Process 

 Consultation Process 
 Stakeholder Engagement 

 Consultation Information 
 Response Methods 

 

 

  

Consultation Responses 

 Consultation Responses 
 Scrutiny Committee Response 
 Estyn’s Response (summary) 

 

 

 

Learner Voice 

 School Council / Pupil Engagement 
o Schools directly affected by Proposal 
o Other schools identified as being affected 

 

 

  

Other Considerations 

 Consultation Clarification 
 Reasonable Alternatives Identified 
 

 

 

Next Steps 

 Recommendation  
 Decision Making  
 Reporting, Notification and Publishing of Information  

 

 

 

Supporting Information 

 Annex 1: Key Consultation Documents 
 Annex 2: Estyn’s Response (Full version) 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



3 
 

  INTRODUCTION 

 

Executive Summary 

The prime purpose of schools is the provision of education and in line with Welsh Government 

guidelines, any case for closure should be robust and in the best interests of educational 

provision in the area.  

When considering whether a closure is appropriate, special attention is given to any reasonable 

alternatives and the overall effect of closure on the local community and how parents’ and pupils’ 

engagement with the alternative school and any facilities it may offer could be supported. 

The School Organisation Code 2018, provides clear statutory guidance as to the processes that 

need to be followed.  Undertaking a consultation exercise is one of the initial stages of 

progressing any proposal and is subject to Cabinet approval.   

From the 28th September 2023 to the 9 th November 2023 a consultation exercise was undertaken.   

The purpose of the consultation was to gain views on the proposal.  Currently the pupils at Cwm 

Glas Infant School transition to Coed Y Brain Primary School at Key Stage 2. The proposal seeks 

to transition the pupils at Foundation Phase, to deliver an inclusive all-through primary school 

provision from September 2024.  This will result in the closure of Cwm Glas Infant School. 

This Consultation Report is the prescribed method as outlined by the School Organisation Code 

2018 for reflection, review and assessment to provide Cabinet with the information to make an 

informed decision as to whether to proceed with the proposal to the next stage, amend the 

proposal taking into account further information that has come forward through the consultation 

process or to close this proposal with no further actions taken. 

The Report is divided into several sections with the aim to: 

 Outline the consultation processes undertaken  

 Provide clarification in relation to the information provided and consultee engagement 

 Summarise each of the issues raised by consultees  

 Set out Estyn’s response to the consultation in full  

 Respond to issues raised by means of clarification, amendment to the proposal or 

rejection of the concerns, with supporting reasons 

 

Statutory Obligations 

This report is published in line with the requirements of the School Standards and Organisation 

(Wales) Act 2013 and the School Organisation Code 2018.  

The Consultation report will be published on the Caerphilly Sustainable Communities for 

Learning website with hardcopies available on request.  All information is published in Welsh 

and English.  In addition, a child friendly summary has also been produced to ensure information 

is provided in an accessible format for any children and young people affected by the proposals. 

 

 

 

Purpose of the Consultation Report 

The publication of this Consultation Report discharges the Council of its duty under the School 

Organisation Code 2018. 

Page 65

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/1/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/1/contents/enacted
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-code-second-edition.pdf


4 
 

The consultation period represented an opportunity for people to learn about the proposal, ask 

questions and make comments.  Any negative responses made during the consultation period 

were not counted as objections to the proposal but as adverse comments. 

Objections to a proposal can only be registered after the publication of a statutory notice. 

The Consultation Report outlines the processes followed, provides clarity on the issues and 

comments received from consultees, ensures that the views of children and young people 
affected by the proposal are expressed and ultimately, provides Cabinet with the necessary 

information to take one of the following decisions: 

 Proceed with the proposal 

 Make changes to the proposal 

 Not to proceed with the proposal 

Full details of the decision making process and the stages of the proposal as outlined in the 

School Organisation Code 2018 have been published as part of the initial Consultation 

Document and is publicly available via the Council’s website with hardcopies made available on 

request. 

  PROPOSAL 

 

 

What are we proposing to do? 

We are proposing : 

o Closure of Cwm Glas Infant School 
 

Currently the pupils at Cwm Glas Infant School transition to Coed Y Brain Primary School at Key 

Stage 2. The proposal seeks to transition the pupils at Foundation Phase, to deliver inclusive all-

through primary school provision from September 2024.  

This will result in the closure of Cwm Glas Infant School. 

 

What is driving this proposal? 

Due to the falling rolls at Cwm Glas Infant school which are projected to decrease further, a 

meeting was arranged by the Head Teacher and the Governing body with Local Authority 

representatives including the Chief Education Officer, to discuss the future viability of the school.   

The conclusion of the meeting, agreed the school could no longer maintain a balanced budget 

and an appropriate staffing level, therefore a decision was made by the Head Teacher and 

Governing Body of the School to pursue closure of Cwm Glas Infant School with effect from July 

2024. 

 

 

Options Appraisal 

The planning and development of effective school organisation proposals is crucial to the Welsh 

Government’s goal of transforming education in Wales and providing better educational 

outcomes with a commitment to increase school effectiveness, and narrow inequalities in 

achievement between advantaged and disadvantaged areas, groups and individuals. 

The Welsh Government’s Business Case Guidance in relation to utilisation of the Options 

Page 66



5 
 

Framework approach has been followed to identify the widest possible number of feasible 

options, focusing on the following key dimensions: scope, service solution, service delivery, 
implementation and funding.  

An options appraisal provides the opportunity to help councils make an informed and evidence 
based decision on how to deliver services. It does this by considering the relative advantages 
and disadvantages of a number of different delivery model options (including the current way in 

which the service is delivered). 

The methodology helps decision makers to consider the: 

 Desirability - the degree to which each option meets the strategic objectives and priorities of 
stakeholders 

 Viability - the degree to which each option is financially viable and sustainable 

 Feasibility - the degree to which each option can be implemented 

As part of outlining the current proposal, an options appraisal was undertaken. 

The options appraisal stage allowed for a number of different delivery model options to be 

explored and evaluated against a set of agreed criteria, leading to the selection of the preferred 

option.   

Table 1: Options Appraisal Longlist 

 

Option Longlist Options:  Description 

 

Option 1  

 

Do Nothing: 

No change to existing school arrangements 
Option 2  

 

Do Minimum:   

Reduce staffing levels at Cwm Glas Infant School through reduction to 1 class 

Option 3 Do Intermediate 

Co-location of services at Cwm Glas Infant School to offset costs to maintain 
the school 

Option 4  

 

Do Major:  

Collaboration/ Federation of Cwm Glas Infant School with another school in the 

area 

Option 5  

 

Do Maximum  

Transition Cwm Glas Infant School pupils to Coed Y Brain at Foundation Level 
and close Cwm Glas Infant School 

 

 

Each option was evaluated against the investment objectives outlined in the Consultation 
Document and the extent to which it met the Critical Success Factors.  This stage was an 
important part of the process, to raise important questions at an early stage and assist in 

developing proposals.  

This resulted in options either being discounted, carried forward for further consideration in the 

short list with an eventual option identified as a preferred way forward.  It is the option identified 

as the preferred way forward upon which the consultation exercise was based as all other options 

have been discounted at this point. 

Page 67



6 
 

The process utilised was outlined in detail in the Consultation Document and resulted in 

Option 5 being identified as the preferred option, namely, Transition Cwm Glas Infant School 

pupils to Coed Y Brain at Foundation Level and close Cwm Glas Infant School. 

 

Benefits and Disbenefits 

There are common challenges faced by all Local Authorities when adopting new proposals.   The 

vast majority of Council policies are delivered through projects and programmes of various forms. 

It is therefore vital that projects are delivered successfully in order to realise their intended 

benefits for citizens. 

Evidence shows that the best way to ensure successful delivery is by setting up projects correctly 

in the first place. The most common causes of failure, among others are a lack of clear objectives, 

insufficient resources and over-ambitious cost and schedule that impact on the level and amount 

of benefit that can be realised and can be avoided if tackled in a project’s early stages. 

As part of the development of the proposal, a number of benefits and disbenefits were identified 

as outlined in the Consultation Document.  The consultation process was an opportunity to 

consult with relevant stakeholders to understand what they see as positive outcomes and what 

negative consequences may be delivered. 

The Council recognises that people have different needs, requirements and goals and we will 

work actively against all forms of discrimination by promoting good relations and mutual respect 

within and between our communities.  An Integrated Impact Assessment was carried out to 

initiate discussion and invite comments as to whether the principles for the proposal are 

supported. 

All comments have been recorded and Cabinet members will be provided with copies of all the 
responses received within the consultation period and in their original format as part of the 
decision making process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  CONSULTATION PROCESS 

 

Consultation Process 

The consultation process has followed the Welsh Government guidelines as set out in the School 

Organisation Code 2018.   

 

Stakeholder Engagement 

Through TeamCaerphilly - Better Together, the Council is committed to ensuring high quality, 
citizen focused services for the communities that comprise our county borough.  In future -

proofing public services, we recognise the need to ensure effective engagement which is central 

to our decision making - Read more about our approach to Consultation and Engagement here 

  

Page 68

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/tc-eng/
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Consultations/Consultation-and-Engagement-Framework.aspx


7 
 

For this proposal, our consultation process must follow the Welsh Government Statutory 

guidance as set out in the School Organisation Code 2018.   

The following consultees were advised of our proposals by letter or email: 

 

Table 2: Consultee List 
 

Pupils and Pupil Councils*  Welsh Ministers 
 

Parents, prospective parents, guardians and 
carers*  

Assembly Members and Members of 
Parliament representing the area served * 
 

Headteacher, Staff and Governing bodies* 
 

Local CCBC Members  
 

Directors of Education for Neighbouring 

Authorities 
 

Local Town and Community Councils 

 

Teaching  and Support Staff Associations 

 

Estyn 

Parent Network 
 

Welsh Education Forum 
 

Diocesan Directors / Boards of Education 
 

South East Wales Consortium (EAS) 
 

Gwent and South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioners 
 

South East Wales Transport Alliance 
(SEWTA) 
 

Early Years Development and Childcare 

Partnership 
 

Mudiad Meithrin, Menter Iaith and  

voluntary nursery providers 
 

 

*of schools directly or likely to be affected by the proposal only 

In addition to advising those we were obliged to under the stakeholder criteria, the following were 

also contacted and advised of our proposals in writing: 

o All Headteachers in the Borough 

 

Consultation Information 

The School Organisation Code 2018 states that when undertaking a consultation process in 

connection with a school proposal, the Council must publish information to enable transparent, 

balanced and open decision making.  

The consultation document must be published on a school day and consultees must be given at 

least 42 days to respond to the document, with at least 20 of these being school days as defined 

by Section 579 of the Education Act 1996.  The consultation period opened on Thursday 28th  

September 2023 (a school day) and concluded at midnight on Thursday 9th November 2023. 

As part of this proposal, the following documentation was produced: 

 Consultation Notification Letter 

 Consultation Document  

 Child Friendly Summary Presentation 

 Consultation Response Form 

 Integrated Impact Assessment 

Page 69



8 
 

All documentation was published in Welsh and English, complying with the requirements of the 

Welsh Language Standards.  Information was also available in other languages and formats on 

request, however, no such requests were received as part of this process. 

Hardcopies of the documentation were issued to the schools directly affected by the proposal 

including the child friendly summary for discussion with the pupils. 

In addition to notifying the consultees in writing of the proposal, distribution of information was  

supported via the school text messaging service direct to parents and staff. 

A child friendly consultation summary was also produced to support the consultation process 

with pupils of the affected schools to present information in a manner relevant to their likely 

understanding, allowing them to participate in the consultation process and reach an informed 

opinion.  In addition to this documentation, local teaching staff provided assistance to children 

and young people who wished to submit a consultation response in their preferred format and 

language. 

The Council’s Social media channels were also utilised.  

 

Response Methods  

As outlined in the Consultation Document, anyone wishing to comment in relation to the proposal 

could do so in writing by: 

o Completing the online response form on the Council’s website 

o Completing a response pro forma and posting it to the Sustainable Communities for 

Learning Team at Caerphilly 

o Emailing comments to the Sustainable Communities for Learning Team at Caerphilly 

Pupils of the schools directly affected by the proposal were also given the opportunity to engage 

in the process through focused ‘Pupil Voice’ sessions. 

The response forms were designed in such a way as to capture the relevant information required 

to discharge the Council’s obligations required under the School Organisation Code for 

undertaking a consultation linked to the regulated alteration of a maintained school. 

This consultation was undertaken to capture the views of consultees in relation to the proposal.  

These views have been incorporated into this document, which will be published and considered 

by Cabinet when determining whether to proceed to Statutory notice stage. The separate 

statutory processes were outlined in the consultation document and any adverse comments 

received as part of this process have been recorded as such. 

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES  

 

Consultation Responses 

Overall a total of 21 responses were received during the consultation process.   

Please note: The figure above and the data reported on for Questions 1 to 7 does not include 

the responses received by Estyn, Scrutiny or captured as part of any pupil engagement sessions. 

These are outlined in more detail later in this document. 

Of the prescribed methods for providing a response during the consultation period:  

 17 responses received via Online Survey 

Page 70



9 
 

 4 responses received via email 

 0 responses received via post  

0 responses (0%) were returned in the medium of Welsh. 

The Sustainable Communities for Learning Team received no requests for the documentation to 

be provided in any additional format or languages to those already available.   

 

QUESTION 1 

The consultees were asked to confirm the proposal they were responding to as part of the 

process.  

 

QUESTION 2 

The consultees were asked to identify a category that best described them in relation to the 

proposal for the school affected.  The options provided were selected to demonstrate that the 

key consultee groups as outlined in the School Organisation Code had been engaged with. 

These included, Pupil, Parent, Staff Member, School Governor, Elected Member, Local 

Resident, Group and Other. 

Of those who responded, the following categories were selected: 

29% 
Parents 

14% 
Staff 

Members 

5% 
School 

Governors 

0% 
Elected 

Members 

24% 
Local 

Resident 

19% 
Other 

 

For those selecting ‘other’, the opportunity was given to elaborate further as they felt appropriate. 

 

QUESTIONS 3 TO 7 

As part of the consultation process, consultees were asked to provide basic contact information, 

including their name, address and email.  This psychographic data was collected in order to help 

paint a picture of the consultee and enable the Sustainable Communities for Learning team to 

understand trends in response data and response groupings that would assist in compiling this 

Consultation Report. 

As information can be collected for many purposes, the Caerphilly County Borough Council’s 

privacy notice for consultations/surveys was referenced, which outlined the purpose and legal 

basis for collecting the information, data usage and data retention periods. 

For the purposes of this Consultation Report, Cabinet will be provided with a separate digest of 

the consultation comments received.  Please note that comments that are considered to be 

offensive or compromise anonymity have been edited or removed. 

 

QUESTION 8 

As part of our duty under the School Organisation Code 2018, consultees must be given the 

option to request  notification as to the publication of this Consultation Report.  Contact 

information has been collected to this end and the preferred method for communication will be 

notification via email if this information has been made available by the respondent. 

Page 71



10 
 

 17 out of the 21 respondents have requested notification.  These individuals have 

been added to the notification list and will be contacted concurrently with stakeholders when this 

document is made publicly available through the Council’s website.  Hardcopies of the 

documentation will be made available on request. 

 

QUESTION 9 

Consultees can submit their views either in favour of or against the proposals. 

Consultees were asked to indicate which of the following statements most accurately reflected 

their views about the proposal.  Consultees were reminded to read the consultation 

documentation prior to providing any responses during this consultation exercise and that 

unfavourable comments made during the consultation period will not be treated as objections at 

this stage. 

The options available were: 

 I support the proposal 

 I do not feel strongly one way or the other 

 I do not support the proposal 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Of the 21 responses returned, 1 supports the proposal, 14 do not support it, 6 either didn’t feel 

strongly either way or failed to select an option.   

 

5%

28%

67%

Overall Consultee Responses (%)

I support the proposal

I do not feel strongly one
way or the other

I do not support the
proposal

Page 72



11 
 

 

 

 

 

It is prudent to bring to the attention of readers that the commentary provided as part of Questions 

10 to 12 may offer additional insight into the views of the consultees and that the response 

School Governor
100%

"I support the proposal"
5% of overall responses broken down by 

category

Parent
28%

Staff Member
7%

Local Resident
36%

Other
29%

"I do not support the proposal"
67% of overall responses broken down by 

category

Parent
16%

Staff Member
17%

Other
67%

"I do not feel strongly one way or the other"
28% of overall responses broken down by 

category

Page 73



12 
 

provided to Question 9 should not be considered in isolation, for example where there are 

duplicate responses or multiple responses from a single household. 

 

QUESTIONS 10 to 12 

This was a free text box, enabling consultees to provide additional comments as to why they 

supported or did not support the proposal as outlined in the Consultation Document, or to 

suggest changes or alternative options that could improve the proposal. 

All comments received have been read and analysed.   

General themes that emerged from the consultation, including those raised at Scrutiny 

Committee: 

 Transition Processes and Impact 

 Staffing Implications 

 Future Developments 

These themes are outlined in more detail in the section on ‘Consultation Clarification’ . 

 

QUESTIONS 13 to 18 

In line with the Caerphilly County Borough Council’s Strategic Equality Plan 2016-2020 and the 

Consultation and Monitoring Guidance 2016 document, a reduced version of the Equalities and 

Monitoring questionnaire was included as part of the consultation response to support effective 

planning and to ensure that a representative sample was achieved to identify any equality issues. 

From the responses received, of those that completed the Equalities monitoring section: 

I am … 

Female                                              14 Prefer to self describe                               0          

Male                                                    7 Prefer not to say                                          0 

 

Age 

Under 16                                                 3 40-65                                                         9 

16-25                                                       0 Over 65                                                      1 

26-39                                                       4 Prefer not to say                                           4 

 

Disability 

Yes                                                          2 No                                                           13 

Prefer not to say                                      6 

 

Preferred Language 

English                                                   14 Other                                                        0 

Welsh                                                      0 Prefer not to say                                          7 

 

QUESTIONS 19 to 20 

We have to make sure that the Welsh Language is treated in the same way as the English 

language.  

Page 74



13 
 

Respondents were given the opportunity to make suggestions on how we can increase 

opportunities for people to use or access services in Welsh.   In addition, respondents were able 

to comment on how the proposal could be changed to have (more of) a positive impact on the 

Welsh language. 

2 consultees highlighted the fact that the closure of the school would mean one less facility 

capable of delivering Welsh language opportunities. 

 

QUESTION 21 

In relation to equalities implications that respondents highlighted, 0 respondents indicated that 

their decision was influenced as per the list outlined in the consultation response form. 

 

Scrutiny Response 

The Council’s Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee is a consultee for any policy 

or service developments in relation to Education within the Borough.  

A Multi-Locational meeting (Penallta House & MS Teams) took place on Tuesday 17th October 

2023 at 5.30pm.  

As part of this meeting, the proposal relating to the closure of Cwm Glas Infant School was 

discussed as agenda item 8.   

All consultation documentation was made available to members as part of the agenda reports 

pack and officers linked to the proposal were available to take questions. Any queries raised 

have been acknowledged and included as part of the themes analysis. 

A recording of the session is available to view:   

Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee Meeting  

 

Estyn’s Response 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and the School 

Organisation Code 2018, the Council, as the proposers, is required to send a notification with 

regards to the consultation to Estyn. 

Estyn is the education and training inspectorate for Wales and their vision is to improve the 

quality of education and training and outcomes for all learners in Wales.  However, Estyn is not 

a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory 

requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters.  Therefore, as a body being 

consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation 

proposals.  

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal.  The full response from Estyn in 

included as Annex 2 at the end of this document.  However, in summary: 

“It is Estyn’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the standard of education 

provision in the area.” 

The Council acknowledges Estyn’s response. 

 

Page 75

https://civico.net/caerphilly/18099-Education-and-Social-Services-Scrutiny-Committee


14 
 

 LEARNER VOICE 
 

Young people have a right to act to express their views in all matters affecting them and for their 

views to be heard and given due weight in accordance with their age and maturity.  
 

School Council / Pupil Engagement 

The Council acknowledged that the voice of young people is about involving them as active 

participants in the development, delivery, management and improvement of their educational 

and student experience and needs to be at the heart of planning, provision and evaluation.  

The Sustainable Communities for Learning Team in Caerphilly ensure that when bringing 

forward any proposal, suitable arrangements are made to consult and involve pupils throughout 
the process with the support of the local teaching teams. 

A child friendly consultation summary was produced to support the consultation process with 

pupils to present information in a manner relevant to their likely understanding, allowing them to 

participate in the consultation process and reach an informed opinion.   

 

 Schools directly affected by the proposal 

Due to the age range of pupils attending Cwm Glas Infant School, the pupil engagement 

sessions were tailored accordingly.  

A selection of their responses is shown below: 

The pupils were asked: 

 

1) What they liked about learning at Cwm Glas Infants? 

 

 

Page 76



15 
 

 

 

2) If they went to a new school, what would they like to be there? 

   

  

 

Other Schools identified as being affected 

The other school identified as ‘affected’ in relation to this proposal was Coed Y Brain Primary 

School.  The Head Teacher of the school was contacted during the consultation period whereby 
the consultation proposal was discussed and the pupils, governing body and staff at the school 
invited to provide their responses as part of the consultation process.  Where information has 

been submitted, responses are included as part of the separate annex available to Cabinet. 
 

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

 

Page 77



16 
 

Consultation Clarification 

When analysing all consultation response comments received as part of the consultation period, 
a number of emerging themes became evident.   

 

Table 3: Summary of Response Themes 

 

Theme Overview  Number of 
Mentions 

Transition Infant to Primary setting 8 

Admission Processes 1 

Capacity of Coed Y Brain Primary  1 

Travel distance to Coed y Brain Primary 2 

Staffing  
 

Staffing Implications 5 

Future Developments Use of Cwm Glas Infant School site 2 

 

To assist Cabinet in the decision making process, the following information is provided by Council 

Officers involved in the formulation of the proposal by means of response for clarification with 

supporting reasons. 

Transition 

 Infant to Primary setting 

A selection of consultees highlighted their experience of the benefits of pupils attending a smaller 
school, for example, having that strong sense of school community which they perceived may 

be lost in a larger primary school environment.  However, it should be acknowledged that Cwm 
Glas Infant School is a feeder school to Coed Y Brain Primary School both of which share the 

same catchment area and are located in Llanbradach, whereby pupils currently transition at Key 
Stage 2. 
 

A primary school provides an environment where children can work and play together over a 
longer period of time developing a greater understanding and appreciation of one another’s 
diverse strengths, skills and personalities. This has been shown to have a positive impact on 

social skills, problem solving and relationship development between all members of the 
community. 
 

 Admission Processes 

One respondent expressed concerns relating to the transfer of pupils to Coed Y Brain Primary 
School.  The authority will work with both schools and parents and pupils to ensure a smooth 
transition between the schools. 

 
Should the decision be taken by Cabinet to close Cwm Glas Infant School, all pupils currently 

on roll will be able to transfer to Coed Y Brain Primary School, at the relevant time, subject to 
parental preference. 
 

Page 78



17 
 

Further information regarding the admissions process for prospective pupils can be found here: 
Starting School – A guide to Admission Arrangements and Education Services 2024-25 

 

 Capacity of Coed Y Brain Primary 

A scrutiny member sought confirmation with regards to the ability of Coed Y Brain Primary school 

to accommodate current pupils from Cwm Glas Infants and any future additional demand.  Cwm 

Glas Infants School is a natural feeder into Coed Y Brain Primary, and based on current surplus 

places and future projections, has ample capacity to accommodate current and future pupils.   

 

 Travel distance to Coed Y Brain Primary 

A selection of consultees raised concerns with regards to the impact of the new location on 
learner travel. Cwm Glas Infant school and Coed Y Brain Primary share the same catchment 
area and are both located in Llanbradach Village circa 1 mile from each other with existing active 

travel routes established.   
 

As outlined in the Consultation Document, it is anticipated that the likely effect of different 
travelling arrangements as a result of the proposal will be minimal, although it is acknowledged 

that some existing Cwm Glas Infant school pupils may find themselves living closer to the Coed 
Y Brain Primary school site and conversely others finding themselves further away although the 

difference between the sites is minimal.  
 
Those pupils that reside within catchment and live more than 1.5 miles away from their nearest 

catchment school are eligible to free transport under Caerphilly’s transport policy which is more 
generous than the legislative requirement under the Learner Travel Measure (Wales) 2008. 
 

Staffing 

 Staffing Implications 

There were concerns raised in relation to the future employment of the existing staff at Cwm 

Glas Infant School.  The Council’s Human Resources Team will work closely with all relevant 

parties to ensure that processes are adhered to, and support is provided as required dependent 

on the final outcome. 

 

Future Developments 

 Use of Cwm Glas Infant School site 

Local neighbours raised concerns relating to the future use of the Cwm Glas Infant School site.  

Subject to the proposal gaining approval and the closure of Cwm Glas Infants School, the 

existing school building and site would then be classified as surplus to educational requirement 

and become an unallocated Corporate Asset. Future use of the building and site would then be 

subject to a stringent series of tests to ensure legitimate Council use, Welsh Language and Local 

Community use are considered in the first instance.   

 

Page 79

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/schools/starting-school-booklet.aspx


18 
 

Reasonable Alternatives Identified 

Following the consultation period, the Council is required to carry out a further assessment for 

the proposal. The purpose of this further assessment is to take account of any further information 

that has come forward through the consultation or otherwise.  

As outlined in the Consultation Document, the proposal under consideration is to close Cwm 

Glas Infant School .   This was the preferred option as identified through the options appraisal 

process and scored against the critical success factors of Strategic fit, Educational fit, 

Accessibility, Financial fit and Environmental impact.  

Through the consultation process and the comments returned, there is evidence that there is a 

positive level of support in relation to Cwm Glas Infant School. However, no reasonable 

alternatives have been highlighted that have not already been discounted at Options Appraisal 

Stage as a result of the Consultation Process. 

 

NEXT STEPS 
 

Recommendation 

In reviewing the proposal to take account of further information that has come forward 

through the consultation and in consideration of the likely impact on quality and standards 

in education, the community and travelling arrangements, it is the recommendation of this 

report that the proposal is progressed as outlined in the Consultation Document, namely: 

 

 
o Closure of Cwm Glas Infant School 

 
Currently the pupils at Cwm Glas Infant School transition to Coed Y Brain Primary 

School at Key Stage 2. The proposal seeks to transition the pupils at Foundation Phase, 

to deliver inclusive all-through primary school provision from September 2024. 

This will result in the closure of Cwm Glas Infant School. 

 

Decision Making 

To deliver our reforms across the entire system, we will need a bold commitment to effective 

collaboration along with integration of services where appropriate. This will include Welsh 

Government, the teaching profession and the wider education workforce, our key partners in 

local authorities, diocesan authorities, regional services, Estyn and others. Successful 

implementation of any proposal will require effective and honest engagement between all facets 

of the education system and our local communities and we are committed to providing the 

conditions to enable this to happen.  

Cabinet Members are asked to: 

 

a) Consider the information contained in the Consultation Report 
b) Approve the recommendation, via vote, to proceed to Statutory Notice in relation to the 

proposal to close Cwm Glas Infant Schol by July 2024 

 

Page 80



19 
 

Reporting, Notification and Publishing of Information 

Should Cabinet decide to proceed with the proposal, a Statutory Notice will be published 
providing a 28 day notice period for objections.  The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) 

Act 2013 provides that anyone wishing to make objections to a school organisation proposal has 

the opportunity to do so.  To be considered as statutory objections, objections must be made in 

writing and sent to the Council within the 28-day period. 

Cabinet will then consider the outcome of the Statutory Notice at a future meeting and determine 

whether to implement the proposal having given due consideration to all the information 

provided. 

In the event of objections, the Council will publish an objection report providing a summary of the 

objections and Cabinet’s response to those objections within 7 days or the day of the 

determination of the proposal.  This report will be available for all persons to view on the Council 

website and paper copies will be available on request. 

 

 

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

Annex 1 : 

Consultation Notification Letter 

Consultation Document 

Integrated Impact Assessment 

 

Annex 2:  

Estyn’s Full Response 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and  

Training in Wales. 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its associated 
Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. However, Estyn is not a 
body which is required to act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory 

requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being 
consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation 

proposals.  Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 
following response to the information provided by the proposer. 

Summary/ Conclusion 

Caerphilly County Borough Council are consulting on their proposal to close Cwm Glas Infant 
School with effect from July 2024.  It is Estyn’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain 

the standard of education provision in the area. 

Description and benefits 

The council has presented a clear rationale outlining the reasons for the proposal.  Due to 
continued and projected falling rolls at Cwm Glas Infant School, the headteacher and governing 

Page 81

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/consultations/21st-century-schools-consultation-cwm-glas-infants/notification-letter
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/consultation-document-cwm-glas-eng.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/consultations/21st-century/iia-cwm-glas-infants-eng.aspx


20 
 

body are now unable to set a balanced budget with an appropriate staffing level, therefore the 

decision has been made to pursue closure.  

Under current arrangements, pupils at Cwm Glas Infant School transition to Coed Y Brain 
Primary School at the end of Year 2. This proposal seeks to bring forward transition to the start 

of the early years phase which would allow pupils to receive an ‘all-through’ primary provision 
from September 2024.  

The council has provided a suitably detailed description of the proposal along with an estimated 
timetable for statutory procedures. As pupils already transition to Coed Y Brain Primary School, 

the council states that there are no requirements for interim arrangements. The consultation 
document states that additional support would be available to families where required.  

The council has included a useful ‘Children and Young People’s Consultation Document’ which 

accompanies the main consultation document. This document refers to a list of Frequently Asked 
Questions available on the council website however these do not yet appear to be in place.  

The council has outlined the advantages and disadvantages of this proposal appropriately. The 

main advantages noted are a significant reduction in surplus places along with the provision of 
wider opportunities for pupils in a larger, primary provision. The consultation outlines additional 
benefits in terms of easing arrangements for families with primary aged siblings which appear to 

be appropriate.  

The council states that it will manage risks pro-actively in accordance with it’s risk management 
procedures. The consultation notes that transition arrangements are already well established 

between the two schools and therefore any risks would be minimal. This appears to be a 
reasonable statement.  

The council has considered a range of options which include consideration of reduced staffing 
levels, shared use of the building to help offset costs and collaboration or federation with another 

school in the area. The council has identified reasons as to why each has been discounted in 
favour of school closure. These reasons appear to be fair and reasonable. However, although 

the council states that further discussions will be made with both schools concerning the impact 
on staffing, potential impact on staff is not made explicit within the ‘Benefits’ and ‘Disbenefits’ 
section.  

The council has considered the impact of the proposal on transport arrangements. Both schools 
share the same catchment area and the distance between the two schools is 1.1 miles. Pupils 
from Cwm Glas Infant School currently transition to Coed Y Brain Primary School at the end of 

Year 2 and ‘safe travel’ routes are already established. The council does not anticipate that the 
proposal will affect transport arrangements, and this appears to be a reasonable statement.  

The council has demonstrated the impact of the proposal on surplus places. There are currently 

50.88% surplus places at Cwm Glas Infant School and 32.23% surplus places at Coed Y Brain 
Primary School. It is reasonable for the proposal to suggest that surplus places will reduce 
significantly as a result of the intended closure.  

The council has appropriately considered the financial costs of the proposal. The consultation 

document states that Coed Y Brain Primary School has existing capacity to fully accommodate 
all current and future pupils from Cwm Glas Infant School and therefore requires minimal further 

investment. Savings will be realised through the upkeep and maintenance of a single site which 
benefits from a greater energy efficiency rating.  

The local authority has provided a Welsh Language Impact Assessment as part of this proposal.  

The local authority has provided a Community Impact Assessment as part of this proposal. The 

local authority note that the two schools are English medium and anticipates that the proposal 
will have minimal impact on the Welsh medium offer across the borough and this is a reasonable 
assumption.  

Page 82



21 
 

NB. Estyn provides their opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals and 

does not evaluate the Welsh Language Impact Assessment or the Community Impact 
Assessment. 

Educational aspects of the proposal 

The council has considered the educational aspects of the proposal by outlining the benefits of 

a primary school provision over an infant school provision. The benefits are outlined under 
curriculum, quality of teaching and professional development. The consultation implies that 
standards should improve under a single vision, a smoother continuity of provision and access 

to a wider range of enrichment activities.  

The consultation suggests that the provision of increased opportunities to learn alongside a wider 
age range of peers will improve well-being and attitudes to learning across both settings. In 

addition, pupils would have access to a wider range of extra-curricular activities and wraparound 
school care. 

The consultation outlines perceived benefits of learning under one management team. The local 

authority claims that these benefits will stem from unified leadership of the curriculum and quality 
of teaching and learning under one whole school development plan. In terms of continuity for 
learners across the primary phase, this is a reasonable statement.  

The consultation does not make comment on each school’s most recent Estyn report but does 

provide a link to the Estyn website. Cwm Glas Infant School was last inspected in 2017 and 
Coed Y Brain Primary School in 2023. Neither inspection report outlines any serious 

shortcomings.  

The local authority has considered the impact of the proposal on vulnerable groups through the 
completion of a full Integrated Impact Assessment. The assessment considers the impact of the 
proposal on all protected characteristics and notes that Coed Y Brain Primary School is 

accessible to pupils and the wider community regardless of other specified characteristics. The 
consultation concludes that there are no perceived negative impacts, and this seems reasonable.  

With regard to pupils with Additional Learning Needs (ALN), the local authority states that it would 

continue to provide support for ALN pupils. The local authority also states that it is unlikely that 
the Special Needs Resource Base at Coed Y Brain Primary School will be affected by this 

proposal. This appears to be appropriate.  

The council has considered the impact of this closure on the local community. The consultation 
states that as Cwm Glas Infant School is a feeder school to Coed Y Brain Primary School, there 
will be minimal impact on other local primary schools. This is a reasonable statement. The 

council also states that both schools currently have limited community use. Should the proposal 
go ahead, the council states that the Cwm Glas building will be prioritised for Welsh language 

and local community use in the future. 

 

 

 

 

 

Report prepared by: 

Sustainable Communities for Learning Team 
Directorate of Education and Corporate Services 

Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Page 83



22 
 

Penallta House 

Tredomen Park 
Ystrad Mynach 

CF82 7PG 
 
21stCenturySchools@caerphi lly.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 84

mailto:21stCenturySchools@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
 
 

EDUCATION AND SOCIAL SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE -    
28TH NOVEMBER 2023 

 
 

SUBJECT: ANNUAL REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL 

SERVICES AND HOUSING FOR 2022/23 
 

REPORT BY: DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 

1.1 To inform the Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee of the key 
messages that have been identified in the preparation of the Annual Report of the 
Director of Social Services and Housing for 2022/23.   

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Part 8 of the Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA) requires 
 Directors of Social Services in Wales to publish an annual report about the exercise 
 of the Local Authority’s social services functions. The attached report has been 
 written  in a format that is compliant with the requirements of the SSWBA. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1 Members of the Education and Social Services Scrutiny Committee are requested to 

note the contents of my Annual Director’s Report for 2022/23 prior to its submission 
to Council on the 29th November 2023 for its publication. 

 

 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 Statutory guidance requires the Corporate Director of Social Services and Housing to 
 present the Annual Report to Council for its adoption. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 

 
5.1. This report is an opportunity for me as the Statutory Director of Social Services to 

provide a summary of the effectiveness of Caerphilly County Borough Council in 
delivering Social Services to its citizens. 

 

Page 85

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 9



5.2 The format and content of the report is prescribed by CIW and outlines in some detail 
how we addressed our priorities for the financial year in question. 

 
5.3  The report lays out how we addressed our key priorities for 2022/23 and what our 

priorities are for 2023/24. 
 
5.4 A key challenge faced during the year has been our ability to recruit and retain staff 

in a variety of care related roles.  This is not an issue solely for Caerphilly CBC but a 
problem nationally.  We have worked hard with colleagues from within the Council, 
the Aneurin Bevan University Health Board and independent sector partners to share 
ideas and resources to overcome these challenges.   

 
5.5 The continued fallout from the Covid 19 pandemic coupled with the cost of living 

crisis has placed significant financial pressures on the independent care sector.  
Whilst we have taken steps to offset some of these challenges, we continue to make 
representations to Welsh Government around an all Wales solution to market 
stability.   

 
5.6 Whilst the pandemic was clearly challenging for everyone involved in social care 

services we have also taken some of the learning from the way we delivered services 
during that period to ensure services are sustainable moving forward and meet the 
long term needs of some of our service users.  Our reconfiguration of our day 
services is an example of this and will mean that these services will be fit for purpose 
for years to come.  

 
5.7 Once again I would like to put on record my gratitude to all the staff in the County 

Borough who have played a part in delivering Social Services, whether they be 
employees of the Council or staff employed by our Independent or third sector 
partners.  

 

5.8 Conclusion   

Following presentation to Council on 29th November 2023, my Annual Director’s 
Report will be made available to Welsh Government, CIW, members of the public via 
the Council’s website, partner agencies and stakeholders. 
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 There are no assumptions made or presumed in this report.   

 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 This report has no decision-making requests and an integrated impact assessment 
does not apply. 

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 Over the past 2 years the Directorate has received significant amounts of grant 

funding which has enabled us to respond to and recover from the Covid 19 
pandemic.  Whilst some grant funding was received in 2022/23 it is clear that this will 
start to reduce of the next few years.  

Page 86



 
8.2 The Directorate underspent by £432,000 against its allocated budget, despite 

pressures in areas such as:-  
 

 Independent sector residential care for children 

 Nursing care for older people 

 Supported living for people with learning disabilities 
 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no direct personnel implications arising from this report. 
  

 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 In order to produce my Annual Director’s Report a wide range of information sources 
 are taken into account including feedback from our customers and regulators/ 
 inspectors. This feedback has been incorporated into my report where relevant. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  

 
11.1  Part 8 of the Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. 
 
 
 
Author:  Dave Street, Deputy Chief Executive  
  streed@caerphilly.gov.uk 
  
 
Consultees: Cllr Teresa Parry, Chair of Education and Social Services Scrutiny  
  Committee 

Cllr Brenda Miles, Vice Chair of Education and Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee 

  Cllr Elaine Forehead, Cabinet Member for Social Care 
Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive 
Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director of Education and Corporate Services 

                        Mark S. Williams, Corporate Director for Economy and Environment 
  Jo Williams, Head of Adult Services 
  Gareth Jenkins, Head of Children’s Services 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Annual Report of the Director of Social Services and Housing 2022/2023 

Page 87

mailto:streed@caerphilly.gov.uk


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 88



  Appendix 1 

1 
 

 

Page 89



  Appendix 1 

2 
 

CONTENTS 

 

1. INTRODUCTION         Page 3 

2. DIRECTORS SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE     Page 5 

3. HOW ARE PEOPLE SHAPING OUR SERVICES?     Page 6 

4. PROMOTING & IMPROVING THE WELLBEING OF THOSE WE HELP Page 9 

5. PROTECT & PROMOTE PEOPLE’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING  Page 11 

6. PROTECT & SAFEGUARD PEOPLE FROM HARM    Page 13 

7. ENCOURAGE PEOPLE TO LEARN, DEVELOP & PARTICIPATE  Page 15 

8. SUPPORT PEOPLE TO MAINTAIN HEALTHY RELATIONSHIPS  Page 17 

9. SUPPORT PEOPLE TO IMPROVE LIFESTYLE & ACCOMMODATION Page 19 

10. HOW WE DO WHAT WE DO       Page 21 

 

 

 

Page 90



  Appendix 1 

3 
 

1. Introduction 
 

I am pleased to introduce my Annual Report for 2022/23 as Statutory Director of 
Social Services & Housing for Caerphilly County Borough Council.  This is my 
opportunity to reflect on the achievements and challenges for the year concerned.  It 
is important at the start of this report I am able to confirm that all the identified 
service priorities for the year have been met. The report also outlines our priorities 
for the year 2023/24.  
 
Given the aftermath of the Covid pandemic, the increasing demands for services and 
the ongoing financial challenges faced by Local Government, delivering against these 
priorities and maintaining consistently high quality services has been a significant 
achievement in itself.  
 
The resilience and commitment of our workforce is commendable. Although we have 
ongoing challenges in relation to recruitment and retention.  Caerphilly is fortunate 
to be able to rely on staff who are passionate about what they do, feel supported to 
deliver good services and are genuinely committed to improving outcomes for our 
citizens.  This is the case for both the staff who we directly employ and those we rely 
on from our commissioned service.  
 
Overall performance across the Directorate has been strong despite significant 
pressures emerging from the NHS in terms of hospital discharge as well as pressures 
in children's services relating to complexity of needs and non-availability of services.  
 
Our ability to respond to people both in the community and in hospitals has been 
hampered by a very fragile independent sector care market.  We will continue to 
work with these key partners to ensure that these essential services remain in place 
to meet identified need.  
 
The workload relating the Regional Partnership Board continues to increase as does 
the strategic influence of the Board on day to day operational delivery.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



  Appendix 1 

4 
 

Going into 2023/24, there will be exceptional challenges because of the continued 
cost of living crisis, ongoing health issues and the wider pressures on families. 
However, my staff are enthusiastic and determined to continue to deliver the best 
possible services across every element of Social Services. 
 
 

 
 
Dave Street 
Corporate Director - Social Services & Housing 

Page 92



  Appendix 1 

5 
 

2. Director’s Summary of Performance 
 
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, performance reporting was suspended by Welsh 
Government. Local authorities were instead required to submit ‘check point data’, 
initially on a weekly and then fortnightly basis to monitor the impact of the pandemic 
particularly in relation to work load demands and staff resourcing including absences. 
For 2022-2023 this checkpoint data has been reviewed and is now submitted 
monthly. For the first year it was agreed that comparative data will not be published  
At the same time, Welsh Government has undertaken a review of the national 
performance data set and have implemented a National Performance Framework 
that will be reported on at the end of the 2023/24 financial year. 
 
As a result, I am unable to provide the traditional 3 year comparative performance 
data for Adult and Children’s Services.  However, the Directorate Performance 
Assessment (DPA) was presented to Scrutiny Committee on 20th July 2023 and the 
key messages were as follows: 
 
Adult Services: 
 
The numbers of people receiving services remains constant however, due to the 
national shortage of domiciliary care workers in an average month there were 577 
hours of care that could not be provided. The number of people waiting for the 
provision of a care package was, on average, 70 at any one time. 
 
There was an increase in the number of assessments and reviews completed across 
adult services. 
 
Children’s Services: 
 
For Children’s Services, the numbers of referrals progressing for assessment 
remained relatively stable however, complexity of the issues presented was 
increasing. The numbers of children included on the Child Protection Register and the 
number becoming Looked After were also reported to be stable at this time. 
 
Overall performance was noted to be positive with no exceptions to report.  
 
The Directorate Performance Assessment report can be found here:  Social Services 
DPA  

  

Page 93

https://sc-aptdmod2.corporate.group.local/documents/s45794/Appendix%204.pdf
https://sc-aptdmod2.corporate.group.local/documents/s45794/Appendix%204.pdf


  Appendix 1 

6 
 

3. How are people shaping our services? 
 
Caerphilly Social Services is committed to making sure that people can make their 
voice heard, whether this is about how our services are developed and delivered in 
the future or whether it is about a service they are receiving now.  We do this in a 
number of different ways including, undertaking surveys, contract monitoring 
processes, Responsible Individual visits to care homes, complaints and compliments, 
consultation events and feedback from Regulatory Inspections. 
 
The most important way of ensuring people’s voices are heard and listened to is 
through every contact that our staff have with service users.  This starts from the first 
point of contact with the Directorate. Our staff have all received Collaborative 
Communication training to provide them with the skills to have ‘meaningful 
conversations’ to identify ‘what matters’ to people including the personal outcomes 
the individual wants to achieve and the support networks they may already have in 
place to rely on to meet these outcomes. Any plans to provide care or support are co-
produced to ensure people’s voices and choices are recorded and responded to 
appropriately.  
 
All of our Regulated services are registered under the Regulation and Inspection of 
Social Care (Wales) Act (RISCA) 2016 and inspected by Care Inspectorate Wales 
(CIW). In line with requirements, all our registered services have completed Quality 
Assurance Reports which are submitted to CIW. Routine inspections of care homes 
have continued and the inspection reports and annual returns are all available on the 
CIW website:   Home | Care Inspectorate Wales    
 
Engagement meetings have continued to be held with the CIW link Local Authority 
Inspector and the Senior Management Team  
 
Social Services has a Statutory process that has to be followed when someone is 
unhappy with our services and wishes to make a complaint. We endeavour to ensure 
that the handling of complaints is quick and effective with the result that the majority 
of issues are able to be resolved as early as possible. 
 
The Annual Social Services Complaints and Compliments Report for 2022/23 was 
reported to Scrutiny Committee on 12th September 2023 and can be accessed via the 
following link: Annual Complaints and Compliments Report 2022-23.pdf (caerphilly.gov.uk) 
 
During the year, the Directorate received 189 complaints, this is an increase on the 
135 complaints received in the previous year. The Social Services Complaints and 

Page 94

https://www.careinspectorate.wales/
https://democracy.caerphilly.gov.uk/documents/s500005980/Annual%20Complaints%20and%20Compliments%20Report%202022-23.pdf?LLL=0


  Appendix 1 

7 
 

Information Team put significant effort into attempting to resolve issues to the 
customer’s satisfaction at Stage 1 of the process and it is really positive to report that 
the majority of complaints continue to be resolved at this stage.   
 
The Complaints and Information Team record whether complaints are upheld, 
partially upheld or not upheld. This enables the Directorate to note any themes and 
trends from the findings to improve future practice and identify any isolated 
incidents of poor practice that may require attention.  
 
Of the 189 complaints received at Stage 1, the following outcomes were noted:  
 

 20 were closed with 3 being withdrawn by the complainant, 2 being referred to 
other agencies and 15 being subject of other processes where the issues raised 
could be more appropriately resolved i.e. ongoing legal proceedings 

 13 complaints were upheld 

 8 complaints were partially upheld 
 147 complaints were not upheld 

 1 complaint was ongoing at the year end 
 
Of the 13 complaints upheld: 
 

 5 related to Adult Services 

 3 related to Children’s Services and  

 5 related to the Corporate Complaints Procedure 
 
The Directorate received 11 requests to progress complaints to a Stage 2 formal 
investigation with 7 being dealt with under the Corporate Complaints Procedures and 
4 progressing to Independent Investigation.  In addition, there were 9 contacts by our 
customers to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) – a slight decrease 
on the previous year.  Of these: 
 

 In 5 cases, the PSOW confirmed that Caerphilly had followed due process 

 In 2 cases, Caerphilly had been unable to follow procedures and so the matters 
were referred back to the Council to conclude 

 1 complainant withdrew their complaint and  

 In 1 case, Caerphilly were asked to complete a Stage 2 investigation (included 
in the figure reported above). 

 

Page 95



  Appendix 1 

8 
 

The Directorate appreciates the importance of learning from complaints and 
representations and that equal emphasis needs to be placed on learning from 
positive outcomes.   
 
Praise is received by teams in the form of thank you cards, letters and emails and 
these are sent to the Complaints and Information Team for them to record.  In 
2022/23, 233 compliments were received, of which 166 (71%) related to Adult 
Services and 67 (29%) related to Children’s Services.  This is an increase on the 
previous year which is due to improved recording processes.  The percentage split is 
similar to previous years and reflects the nature of the services being delivered by 
the two areas.  
 
In addition, annual survey responses by some service areas results in positive 
feedback that can be used to measure the success of the Directorate in those areas. 

  

Page 96



  Appendix 1 

9 
 

4. Promoting and improving the well-being of those we help  
 
As stated in Section 3 above, staff within Caerphilly’s Information, Advice and 
Assistance (IAA) Service are trained to undertake ‘meaningful conversations’ with 
service users, their families and carers about what really matters to them.     
 
‘Meaningful conversations’ start with IAA staff the first time someone contacts us.  
These conversations concentrate on people’s strengths, on working with people to 
maintain or regain their independence and utilising their own skills and networks to 
achieve their desired outcomes wherever possible.  
 
It is important to acknowledge that the majority of contacts for Children’s Services 
are from professionals and as a result the ‘what matters’ conversations with the child 
and/or their family are unable to take place until an assessment for Care and Support 
has commenced. 
 
A guiding principle for Caerphilly Social Services is the promotion and maintenance of 
independence.   
 
For Children’s Services, this means supporting families to stay together and 
maintaining children within their homes and communities wherever it is safe to do 
so. This is underpinned by timely assessments of need and creative solutions being 
sought to help keep families together.   
 
Whilst some families may have a negative view of Children’s Social Services to start 
with, we ensure that children, young people and their parents and carers are fully 
involved in the assessment process and that they help to shape and influence their 
plan for care and support.  Working in this way helps to improve working 
relationships over time.  
 
To ensure that they have the opportunity to participate in consultations or purely 
making their views known all children have access to an Independent Advocate who 
can support them in meetings to ensure their voices are heard. We were the first 
Local Authority to develop a statutory Parent Advocacy service jointly funded by 
Families First. Welsh Government subsequently provided funding to pilot the roll out 
of the model across the other four Gwent Local Authorities. 
 
Supporting people to retain or regain their independence is a key objective for all 
who work within Social Services.   
 

Page 97



  Appendix 1 

10 
 

We have full access to the national citizen’s wellbeing database called DEWIS so that 
people can have quick and easy access to information directly from a website rather 
than having to make a call to Social Services and/or speaking to a professional where 
they may prefer not to. We have a dedicated lead officer to further progress the 
development of DEWIS. 
 
Adult Services have introduced an assessment service for domiciliary care to look to 
promote people’s independence wherever possible using a ‘Reablement’ approach. 
This has enabled people to be discharged from hospital and be assessed in their own 
homes. 
 
In addition, we have worked with the Aneurin Bevan Health Board to have access to 
their domiciliary care services to discharge people from hospital who require a large 
package of care. Thus we have reduced their length of stay and enabled them to 
return to their own home which improves their well-being.   
 
We have opened a coffee shop staffed by 12 individuals with a learning disability who 
previously attended day services. We have employed 7 individuals on the Council’s 
terms and conditions and are looking to increase this number. 
 
How we addressed our priorities for 2022/23: 
 

 We embedded the intake model of assessment for care to promote people’s 
independence, choice and control with very positive results. The first 3 months 
data showed only 34% of people who went through the assessment services 
required a long term package of care. 

 We have established a regional post to increase the take up of Direct Payments 
to allow individual’s choice of how their care and support is delivered to best 
meet their needs, to standardise practice and to promote the service. 

 Learning from Caerphilly was shared across Wales to support the successful roll 
out of Parental Advocacy in Children’s Services 

 
What are our priorities for 2023/24? 
 

 To refresh the collaborative conversations training for assessment care 
management staff across adult services and develop the mentor’s role to focus 
on having ‘what matters’ conversations 

 To embed the reablement outcomes focused care planning across adult 
services 

  

Page 98



  Appendix 1 

11 
 

5. Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical 
and mental health and emotional well-being 

 
Caerphilly recognises the importance of working with people and our partners to 
improve outcomes for all service users and this will continue to be a priority for us 
going forward.   
 
Caerphilly are active partners in the Gwent wide Children and Families Partnership 
which continues to prioritise the development of integrated approaches to 
supporting children and young people including the development of Windmill Farm, a 
regional residential assessment resource managed by Newport City Council in 
partnership with Aneurin Bevan University Health Board serving the five Gwent Local 
Authorities. 
 
The Gwent wide Attachment Trauma Service has continued to offer advice, 
consultation and training to Caerphilly social work teams with the aim of supporting 
children and young people to remain living at home or remain in stable foster 
placements. 
 
In response to the Welsh Government’s policy to ‘Eliminate Profit in Children’s 
Residential Care’ Children’s Services gained Corporate and Political approval to 
expand in-house residential care provision including additional children’s homes, 
supported accommodation for young people Leaving Care and for Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking Children (UASC). These plans will see the opening of two small 
children’s homes and an additional UASC property during 2023/24. 
 
Across Adult Services, we continue to develop services to prevent unnecessary 
admission to hospital and facilitate a safe timely discharge for individuals who have 
to be admitted. The Community Resource Team (CRT) has placed community staff in 
Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr to work with individuals, their families and Health professionals. 
Initiatives include access to the Health Board’s Domiciliary Care runs and the 
development of ‘step closer to home’ beds in care homes for temporary placements 
to prevent people staying in hospital once they are medically stable. 
 
We have recognised that increasing numbers of people are experiencing lower level 
mental health issues and they were falling between existing services. In response we 
have developed a Team to address this gap. The Team work with people with anxiety, 
low mood, low self-esteem and related issues. The Mental Health Workers provide 
emotional support throughout interventions and individuals are able to access the 
service by telephone during office hours. The service also supports individuals with 

Page 99



  Appendix 1 

12 
 

housing, income, benefits, employment and healthy living where necessary, all 
utilising a wide variety of statutory, voluntary and third sector agencies. 
 
As part of the Council’s Place Shaping Programme, Cabinet agreed to allocate capital 
funding to develop two new respite facilities – one for adults and one for children. 
These developments will replace and increase existing provision to continue to 
support parents and carers in their unpaid caring roles. 
 
How we addressed our priorities for 2022/23:  
 

 We worked with the Health Board to enable people to remain in the 
community by implementing Welsh Government’s 6 goal approach. 

 We worked with regional colleagues to introduce Bridging the Gap, a 
framework to support unpaid carers, this is funded from the Regional 
Integration Fund.  

 Demolition has commenced on site for the development of the new respite 
houses for adults and for children.  

 Two properties have been purchased to develop 2 bedded children’s homes. 

 We continue to support the National Transfer Scheme by offering 
accommodation for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children identified for 
transfer by the Home Office and an additional 4 bedded house is being 
planned to accommodate the young people. 

 
What are our priorities for 2023/24? 
 

 To work with the Health Board to implement the system resilience plan to 
enable people to remain at home or be discharged from hospital in a timely 
manner.  

 To increase capacity for respite for children with disabilities by re-registering 
an existing provision to provide additional support to parent/carers. 

 To progress the design of the respite houses for adults and children.  

 To continue to expand children’s residential care and supported 
accommodation for young people across the Borough. 

 To continue to support the National Transfer Scheme by offering 
accommodation for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children 

 
  

Page 100



  Appendix 1 

13 
 

6. Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm 
 
Safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults is one of the highest  
priorities for the Council and the Corporate Safeguarding Board is chaired by the 
Cabinet Member for Social Services. 
 
Safeguarding is everybody’s business and is a key theme running through the Social 
Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014. Consequently, we make sure that our staff, 
contractors and partners are aware of their responsibilities in this area.  A Corporate 
Safeguarding Policy is in place and a programme of training and awareness raising is 
in place. Each service area has an identified Designated Safeguarding Officer (DSO) 
and periodic practice development groups are held to support the DSO’s.  
 
The Corporate Safeguarding Board produces an Annual Report for Elected Members 
and the 2022/23 Report was shared with Scrutiny Committee on 11th July 2023. The 
report can be accessed via the following link: Corporate Safeguarding Annual Reporting 22-
23.pdf (caerphilly.gov.uk)   
 
The arrangements for improving safeguarding policies, procedures and practice 
across the region are led by the South East Wales Safeguarding Boards for Adults and 
Children (SEWSB) and the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (VAWDASV) Board.  These Boards are supported by a Business Unit funded 
by the statutory partners and hosted by Caerphilly.  The Boards have clear 
governance structures and their work is supported by a range of sub groups. 
Caerphilly are active partners on these Boards. 
 
Within the Council, responsibility for children’s and adults safeguarding sits within 
Children’s Services. Although discrete service areas, they are managed by one Service 
Manager and capacity and resilience has been improved as a result.   
 
Decisions are made on all children’s referrals within 24 hours ensuring full 
compliance with statutory procedures.  The Wales Safeguarding Procedures are fully 
embedded across the Directorate and the National Safeguarding Training Framework 
is scheduled to be fully implemented by the end of 2023. 
 
How we addressed our priorities for 2022/23: 
 

 We continued to embed learning from Adult and Child Practice Reviews.  

 We reviewed the priorities of the Regional Safeguarding Board’s 3-year 
Plan. 

Page 101

https://democracy.caerphilly.gov.uk/documents/s45720/Corporate%20Safeguarding%20Annual%20Reporting%2022-23.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.caerphilly.gov.uk/documents/s45720/Corporate%20Safeguarding%20Annual%20Reporting%2022-23.pdf?LLL=0


  Appendix 1 

14 
 

 We implemented the National Safeguarding Training Framework from 
November 2022 with further updates expected during 2023. 

 We continued to support the development of a Council wide Learning 
Management System (LMS) to record safeguarding training attendance and 
compliance. 

 We await the findings from Internal Audit following their review of the 
Corporate Safeguarding Self-Assessment processes. 

 
What are our priorities for 2023/24? 

 

 To continue to embed learning from Adult and Child Practice Reviews  
 To implement a Council wide Learning Management System (LMS) to record 

safeguarding training attendance and compliance. 

 To respond to the findings of the Internal Audit of the Corporate 
Safeguarding Self-Assessment processes. 

 To respond to the changing requirements of the National Safeguarding 
Training Framework. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



  Appendix 1 

15 
 

7. Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in 
society 

 

Supporting children Looked After and young people Leaving Care to reach their full 
potential and achieve positive outcomes is a key priority for Children’s Services and 
the Corporate Parenting Group.  
 
Caerphilly has a proven track record of supporting young people into further and 
higher education and a number of Care Leavers have gained Degrees and similar 
qualifications. 50% of Care Leavers continued to be engaged in education, training or 
employment 12 months after leaving care.   
 
We recognise that it is important for people to be more self-reliant and maintain 
their independence enabling them to participate fully in society and their local 
community.  We have embedded the DEWIS information system so people can 
access information for themselves 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.  
 
Enabling all adults to achieve their outcomes has been a key feature in the delivery of 
alternative day services in response to the Covid pandemic.  The learning from 
delivering services in a different way that meets individual needs will be key to 
commissioning a modern, fit for purpose, day service provision going forward. I 
acknowledge that the changes around day services have been challenging for some 
of our service users and their family members, but I am confident in time that these 
changes will be seen in a positive light.   
 
The opening of a coffee shop staffed by individuals who previously attended day 
services has been very well received and is used regularly by local residents.  This is a 
great example of what can be achieved by delivering services differently. 
 
How we addressed our priorities for 2022/23: 
 

  We commissioned an independent organisation to produce a model of day 

services, this was agreed by Cabinet and is based on good practice across the 

country. 

 

 

 

Page 103



  Appendix 1 

16 
 

What are our priorities for 2023/24? 

 To look at opening another coffee shop in Newbridge leisure centre to enable 

more people to have the opportunity to learn and develop skills. 

 To look at employing individuals in catering under the Council’s terms and 

conditions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 104



  Appendix 1 

17 
 

8. Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family 
and personal relationships 

 
We want to support children, young people and adults to be as socially active as 
possible, to feel they can make decisions for themselves and keep themselves safe. 
 
We have embedded the “what matters conversations” across the Directorate and 
trained staff to enhance their skills to focus on outcomes, the strengths and assets of 
people, their families and networks. 
 
We recognise that people having fulfilling relationships with those they are close to is 
really important for their well-being. 
 
For children Looked After, maintaining contact with their families and their home 
communities is really important and Children’s Services do everything they can to 
ensure contact arrangements meet the needs of everyone involved and are positive 
events. 
 
Within Adult Services, we continued to recruit carers to our Shared Lives Scheme to 
enable us to offer more choice and increase the number of placements we are able 
to offer in family homes to people of all client groups. We also made funding 
available to allow adaptations to people’s homes, such as ramps and showers to 
allow people to remain independent.  
 
We have continued to facilitate Carers Groups across the county borough to enable 
carers to meet socially over a coffee. Our Carers Team attend many events to 
promote their service and their efforts have been recognised. 
 
We recognised that we had more work to do on supporting relationships and this 
became a priority for us going forward in terms of expansion of the My Mates club. 
 
Within Children’s Services, wherever possible and whenever safe to do so, we ensure 
children are placed as close to their home communities as possible in order to 
support their links with their family and home.  
 
There are increasing demands being placed on us to recruit more foster carers in 
order to meet the needs of children and young people. We continue to run a radio 
recruitment campaign which has helped increase the enquiries we receive but we 
continue to see the highest rate of enquiries comes from ‘word of mouth’ 
recommendations from existing foster carers. We are fully engaged in the Foster 

Page 105



  Appendix 1 

18 
 

Wales developments for recruitment, retention and support services for foster 
carers. 
 
Recruitment of all staff but particularly Qualified Social Workers is a significant and 
growing challenge and Caerphilly supports the national approaches being undertaken 
by the Association of Directors of Social Services (ADSS) and Social Care Wales (SCW). 
 
How we addressed our priorities for 2022/23? 
 

 We expanded South East Wales Shared Lives Scheme with the Health Board  to 
provide a service for older adults with mental health problems. 

 We worked with partners in the third sector to develop mechanisms to allow 
individuals to establish and maintain friendships.   

 We continued the secondment scheme for staff to undertake the Social Work 
Degree. 

 
What are our priorities for 2023/24? 
 

 To further expand the South East Wales Shared Lives Scheme to include 
Rhondda Cynon Taff County Council to provide a larger service for long term 
and sessional support.  

 To implement a hub with partners to look at how outcomes for people are 
met.  

 Continuation of the secondment scheme for staff to undertake the Social Work 
Degree. 

 To work with Corporate Human Resources to identify ways of addressing the 
wider recruitment and retention challenges across the Service. 

  

Page 106



  Appendix 1 

19 
 

9. Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, 
have a social life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs  

 
Children’s Services actively support children Looked After to engage in education and 
training and provide individual support wherever necessary.  Children are 
encouraged to make the best use of their leisure time and are supported to engage in 
community activities wherever possible. 

 
Children’s Services has a well established operational protocol with Housing to 
ensure we can provide appropriate support to young people facing homelessness.  
We have a range of supported accommodation available including shared living 
provision, supported lodgings and supported tenancies. As stated in Section 5, we 
intend to expand our in-house provision of children’s homes and other 
accommodation options to meet the needs of our children and young people. 
 
The Council is committed to developing dementia friendly communities so people 
can be supported to participate in normal activities of daily living such as shopping, 
banking and eating out. You will see the dementia friendly signs in local 
establishments and many people wearing the blue flower badge indicating they have 
been trained as a dementia friend. 
 
Within Adult Services care homes, you can see many different displays and themes 
reflecting people’s earlier lives. These change regularly and can reflect current 
events. The homes are now divided into small house units each with its own staff 
team so they can really get to know the residents.  The physical environment within 
some of the homes has also changed with the introduction of primary colours 
reflecting people’s choice of their bedroom door and communal areas are brighter 
and more defined. 

 
With our partners we expanded our Shared Lives Scheme to look at a health initiative 
which provides placements with families to prevent people going into hospital and/or 
facilitating them being discharged to a family home. This enables people to have time 
to recover, receive more therapy interventions and have an assessment of their 
needs in more appropriate surroundings. We are committed to this alternative model 
of accommodation. 
 
How we addressed our priorities for 2022/2023: 
 

 We have employed people with a learning disability on the Council’s terms and 
conditions to work in our café. 

Page 107



  Appendix 1 

20 
 

 Building work commenced on the Mill Road flats project which is now part of 
the regional strategic capital plan 

 We continue to develop children’s residential care and supported 
accommodation for young people across the Borough (also in Section 5) 

 
What are our priorities for 2023/24? 
 

 To further increase the number of people we employ in our day opportunities 
projects.  

 To open an additional respite facility for children with disabilities. 
 

 
 

  

Page 108



  Appendix 1 

21 
 

10. How we do what we do?  
 
Our workforce and how we support their professional roles  
 
Our staff are our greatest asset; a skilled and motivated workforce are essential to 
safeguard and support vulnerable people, promote independence and enhance 
service delivery. Ensuring that frontline practitioners and managers are supported 
and well trained is crucial to the success of our service. Our workforce has been 
relatively stable with good staff retention. However, we are seeing increasing 
challenges in recruiting to specific posts across both Adult and Children’s Services and 
increasing pressures around retention due to the Council’s current salary scales no 
longer being competitive with neighbouring Local Authorities. 
 
We have a joint Workforce Development Team with Blaenau Gwent County Borough 
Council and they are responsible for delivering a training and development strategy 
that supports development opportunities for staff at all levels in Social Services. 
 
The Authority holds workforce development responsibility for the whole care sector.  
The Care Sector employs over 3,000 staff with approximately 50% employed by the 
local authority and 50% by independent and third sector. There are significant 
demand and supply challenges for staff to deliver Domiciliary Care and this is a UK 
wide crisis. 
 
We continue to second staff to undertake the Social Work Degree. 
 
Our financial resources and how we plan for the future  

 
Budget management is embedded as a core function of Divisional Management 
Teams (DMTs) and the Senior Management Team (SMT) with the Financial Services 
Manager being a member of the Senior Management Team. Budget reports are 
discussed at DMT’s and SMT on a regular basis.  
 
For the financial year 2022/23 the Directorate underspent by £432,000.  
 
The most significant growth in demand during 2022/2023 has continued to be in the 
following areas: 
 

 Independent sector residential care for children 

 Nursing care for older people 
 Supported living for people with learning disabilities 

Page 109



  Appendix 1 

22 
 

The financial pressures being faced by the UK Government, Welsh Government and 
subsequently Local Government are growing and whilst the financial situation for 
2022/23 was relatively stable, there are significant concerns for 2023 and beyond. 
 

Ongoing reliance on time limited grant funding streams from Welsh Government 
undermines longer term sustainability.  Whilst the transition of the Integrated Care 
Funding (ICF) to the Regional Integration Fund (RIF) has afforded a short period of 
stability to the current funding arrangements, Welsh Government’s intention is for 
RIF funding to taper incrementally with the expectation that Council funding will 
meet the increasing shortfalls in funding.  This position is being challenged across 
Wales. 
 
Our partnership working, Political and Corporate leadership, governance and 
accountability  
 
Part 9 of the Social Services & Well-being (Wales) Act places a key emphasis on 
partnership working and to this end the Directorate is a key partner of the Greater 
Gwent Regional Partnership Board (RPB) with the other four local authorities in 
Gwent and the Aneurin Bevan University Health Board.   
 
The work of the RPB has a major influence over the work of Social Services in 
Caerphilly and in particular with Health. Since its inception the RPB has produced: 
 

 An Area Plan 

 A Market Position statement which outlines the provision of existing services 
and what services may be required in the future. 

 An Annual report which pulls together all of the work of the RPB. 
 
Further information on the work of the RPB and copies of the above reports can be 
found at its website at www.gwentrpb.wales/home. 
 
However, our partnership working is not limited to the RPB. We have a significant 
range of services provided with other local authorities and partners including: 
 

 A joint workforce development team with Blaenau Gwent 
 A Gwent frailty Service developed in conjunction with the four other local 

authorities and the health board 

 A joint Regional Safeguarding Board covering all partners across Gwent. 

 A Shared Lives scheme run on behalf of six local authorities and the Aneurin 
Bevan University Health Board. 

Page 110

http://www.gwentrpb.wales/home


  Appendix 1 

23 
 

 A joint regional Adoption Service and  

 A Regional MyST Programme 
  
Political support for Social Services in Caerphilly remains strong. I am a member of 
the Council’s Corporate Management Team which meets weekly to consider key 
decisions on strategic and operational priorities, prior to these issues / decisions 
going onto Scrutiny / Council. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Social Services attends the Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee with senior managers. Scrutiny Committee, consisting of sixteen elected 
members, meets every six weeks to oversee the performance of the Directorate and 
to consider any policy / service developments prior to them being considered by 
Cabinet.  

Page 111



  Appendix 1 

24 
 

 

Page 112



  Appendix 1 

25 
 

 

Page 113



  Appendix 1 

26 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 114


	Agenda
	3 Pwyllgor Craffu Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a gynhaliwyd ar 17 Hydref 2023.
	5 Rhaglen Waith y Dyfodol Pwyllgor Craffu Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol.
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2
	Atodiad 3

	7 Cynnig Band B Rhaglen Cymunedau Dysgu Cynaliadwy - Ysgol y Lawnt/Ysgol Gynradd Rhymni Uchaf.
	Atodiad 1

	8 Rhaglen Cymunedau Dysgu Cynaliadwy - Cynnig i Gau Ysgol Fabanod Cwm Glas.
	Atodiad 1

	9 Adroddiad Blynyddol Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Thai ar gyfer 2022/23.
	Atodiad 1


